

From DEPARTMENT OF ONCOLOGY PATHOLOGY Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

CHARACTERIZATION OF MITOCHONDRIAL MEMBRANE PROTEINS AS NOVEL COMPONENTS IN MITOCHONDRIAL DYNAMICS

Tong Liu



Stockholm 2014

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by ÅTTA.45 TRYCKERI AB © Tong Liu, 2014 ISBN 978-91-7549-749-5 Characterization of mitochondrial membrane proteins as novel components in mitochondrial dynamics THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

AKADEMISK AVHANDLING

som för avläggande av medicine doktorsexamen vid Karolinska Institutet offentligen försvaras i Lecture Hall, Cancer Centrum Karolinska, R8:00 Karolinska Universitetssjukhuset Solna

Måndag 08 december 2014, kl 09:00

by

Tong Liu

Principal Supervisor: Professor Monica Nistér Karolinska Institutet Department of Oncology Pathology

Co-supervisor(s): Doctor Jian Zhao Karolinska Institutet Department of Oncology Pathology *Opponent:* Professor Alexander M. van der Bliek University of California Los Angeles Department of Biological Chemistry

Examination Board: Professor Lou Brundin Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Neuroscience

Associate Professor Martin Ott Stockholm University Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics

Professor Dan Grander Karolinska Institutet Department of Oncology Pathology

To my beloved family

ABSTRACT

Mitochondria are dynamic organelles that frequently change their shape by shifting the balance of fusion and fission in response to cellular metabolic needs. This process is termed mitochondrial dynamics. Dysregulation of mitochondrial dynamics has been described in many human diseases. Mitochondrial dynamics has been widely studied in yeast, while in mammals the proteins involved in mitochondrial fusion and fission are divergent to some extent. To better understand the mechanisms in mammals, it is imperative to discover the key proteins underlying mitochondrial dynamics. In this thesis, we characterized three novel mitochondrial membrane proteins, MIEF1, MIEF2 and MTGM (Romo1), which play important roles in mitochondrial dynamics. In paper i, MIEF1 is characterized as an integral mitochondrial outer membrane protein. Overexpression of MIEF1 induced extensive mitochondrial fusion, whereas depletion of MIEF1 caused mitochondrial fragmentation. MIEF1 interacts with and recruits Drp1 to mitochondria independent of hFis1, Mff and Mfn2 but this results in mitochondrial fusion. MIEF1 also interacts with hFis1 and elevated hFis1 levels partially reversed the MIEF1-induced fusion phenotype. MIEF1-induced mitochondrial fusion occurs in a manner distinct from Mfn2. In paper ii, we compared MIEF1 and MIEF2, which are two paralogs in human. MIEF1 and MIEF2 possess many functions in common in mitochondrial dynamics. They anchor in the mitochondrial outer membrane, recruit Drp1 to mitochondria, and impede mitochondrial fission. They interact with Drp1 and hFis1. To some extent, MIEF1 and MIEF2 may play functionally distinct roles in mitochondrial dynamics. They are differentially expressed in human tissues. Ectopic expression of MIEF2 displayed a stronger mitochondrial fusion effect than MIEF1. hFis1 and Mff partially reverted MIEF2-induced fusion in contrast to the extensive rescue of fusion induced by MIEF1. MIEF2 forms higher order oligomers, while MIEF1 mainly presents as dimers. By studying engineered deletion mutants, it was shown that MIEF1 requires the amino acid residues 109-154 and MIEF2 the amino acids 1-49 for their dimerization/oligomerization. In MIEF1, oligomerization is not required for mitochondrial localization and interaction with Drp1. In paper iii, gene expression profiling indicated that MTGM might be related to human brain tumors. We identified the highly conserved human MTGM gene that encodes an integral mitochondrial inner membrane protein and confirmed the upregulation of MTGM in human brain tumors. Overexpression of MTGM resulted in Drp1-dependent mitochondrial fragmentation and release of mitochondrial Smac/Diablo to the cytosol, but had no effect on apoptosis. Cell proliferation was inhibited by stalling of cells in S phase. Downregulation of MTGM induced mitochondrial elongation, an increase of cell proliferation and inhibition of cell death induced by apoptotic stimuli. In paper iv, we discovered that the subcellular localization of NCX3 varies with the cell cycle phases. One phenotype is distribution of NCX3 in the plasma membrane (NCX3-PM), the other in the cytoplasm/ER (NCX3-ER). Modification of NCX3 by N-linked glycosylation of a single asparagine residue, N45, is normally required for targeting of the protein to the plasma membrane. Importantly, this modification also affects the cell cycle. In sum, this thesis has unveiled novel proteins playing pivotal roles in the regulation of mitochondrial dynamics.

LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

- I. Zhao, J., T. Liu, S. Jin, X. Wang, M. Qu, P. Uhlen, N. Tomilin, O. Shupliakov, U. Lendahl and M. Nister (2011). "Human MIEF1 recruits Drp1 to mitochondrial outer membranes and promotes mitochondrial fusion rather than fission." EMBO J 30(14): 2762-2778.
- II. Liu, T., R. Yu, S. B. Jin, L. Han, U. Lendahl, J. Zhao and M. Nister (2013). "The mitochondrial elongation factors MIEF1 and MIEF2 exert partially distinct functions in mitochondrial dynamics." Exp Cell Res 319(18): 2893-2904.
- III. Zhao, J., T. Liu, S. B. Jin, N. Tomilin, J. Castro, O. Shupliakov, U. Lendahl and M. Nister (2009). "The novel conserved mitochondrial inner-membrane protein MTGM regulates mitochondrial morphology and cell proliferation." J Cell Sci 122(Pt 13): 2252-2262.
- IV. Liu, T., J. Zhao, C. Ibarra, P. Uhlén, M. Nister. "Glycosylation determines sodium-calcium exchanger 3 subcellular distribution during cell cycle; effects on ER Ca²⁺ handling." Manuscript.

CONTENTS

1	Introduction				
	1.1	1.1 Mitochondria and their origin			
	1.2	1.2 Evolution of mitochondrial dynamics			
		1.2.1 History of mitochondrial dynamics	1		
		1.2.2 The components involved in mitochondri	al dynamics2		
	1.3	1.3 Mitochondrial fusion and fission			
		1.3.1 Mitochondrial fission			
		1.3.2 Mitochondrial fusion	9		
		1.3.3 Regulation of mitochondrial dynamics			
	1.4	Tethering of mitochondria and ER			
	1.5	Calcium signaling from ER to the mitochondrion			
	1.6	Mitochondrial dynamics and apoptosis			
	1.7	7 Mitochondrial dynamics and mitophagy			
	1.8	3 Mitochondrial dynamics in cancer			
	1.9	Mitochondrial dynamics in other human diseases			
2	Aim	1			
3	Mate	Materials and methods			
4	Resi	ults and discussion			
	4.1	Paper I			
	4.2	Paper II			
	4.3	Paper III			
	4.4	Paper IV			
5	Con	Conclusion and perspectives			
6	Ack	Acknowledgements			
7	References				

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ATP	adenosine triphosphate
OXPHOS	oxidative phosphorylation
ROS	reactive oxygen species
mtDNA	mitochondrial deoxyribonucleic acid
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
tRNA	transfer ribonucleic acid
Fzo	fuzzy onions
DRP	dynamin-related protein
GTP	guanosine triphosphate
GED	GTP effector domain
Mfn1	mitofusin 1
Mfn2	mitofusin 2
MOM	mitochondrial outer membrane
MIM	mitochondrial inner membrane
Drp1	dynamin-related protein 1
TRP	tetratricopeptide repeat
hFis1	human Fis1
VD	variable domain
CNS	central nervous system
co-IP	co-immunoprecipitation
MEF	mouse embryonic fibroblast
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
Mff	mitochondrial fission factor
siRNA	small interfering RNA
MIEF1	mitochondrial elongation factor 1
MIEF2	mitochondrial elongation factor 2
ADP	adenosine diphosphate
PINK1	PTEN-induced putative kinase 1
СССР	carbonyl cyanide m-chlorophenyl hydrazone
GDAP1	ganglioside-induced differentiation-associated protein1

Endo B1	endophilin B1
MTP18	mitochondrial protein of 18 kDa
MTGM	mitochondrial targeting GxxxG motif
КО	knockout
MPP	matrix-processing peptidase
HP	heptad repeats
PARL	presenilin associated, rhomboid-like
l-OPA1	long OPA1
s-OPA1	short OPA1
SUMO	small ubiquitin-like modifier
MAPL	mitochondrial-anchored protein ligase
РКА	cAMP-dependent protein kinase A
CaMKIα	$Ca^{2+}/calmodulin-dependent$ protein kinase I α
CaN	Ca ²⁺ /CaM-dependent protein phosphatase calcineurin
AD	Alzheimer's disease
MAM	mitochondria-associated ER membrane
ERMD	ER-associated mitochondrial division
INF2	inverted formin-2
Ins(1,4,5)P3R	inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor
VDAC1	voltage-dependent anion selective channel protein 1
MCU	mitochondrial calcium uniporter
MPTP	mitochondrial permeability transition pore
$\Delta \Psi$ m	mitochondrial membrane potential
NCX	Na^{+}/Ca^{2+} exchanger
NCX _{mito}	mitochondrial Na ⁺ /Ca ²⁺ exchanger
MOMP	mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization
Mdivi-1	mitochondrial division inhibitor-1
Bnip3	Bcl2/adenovirus E1B 19-kDa interacting protein 3

1 INTRODUCTION

Mitochondria are well-known for their function to produce adenosine triphosphate (ATP) through the process of oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) thereby regulating cellular metabolism in all eukaryotic cells (Mitchell 1961). However, the mitochondrion is more than just a powerhouse of the cell. In the past two decades, many other roles of mitochondria have emerged. One is apoptosis mediated by the release of cytochrome c. Maintaining Ca²⁺ homeostasis is another important function of the mitochondrion. Regulation of cell signaling through reactive oxygen species (ROS) involves the cell cycle and embryonic development (McBride, Neuspiel et al. 2006). Dysfunction of mitochondria is involved in a variety of human diseases, especially in mitochondrial deoxyribonucleic acid (mtDNA) related diseases. Mitochondrial function has been widely studied for example in neurological disorders, myopathy, diabetes, encephalomyopathies, cardiomyopathies, and complex multisystem syndromes (Zeviani 2004).

1.1 MITOCHONDRIA AND THEIR ORIGIN

Mitochondria originate from bacterial progenitors which were engulfed by a host cell through endosymbiosis more than 1 billion years ago (Bhattacharya and Gross 2009). We have been aware of the presence of mitochondria in the cytoplasm of cells for over 150 years. They are the most obvious organelles in the cytoplasm (Alberts 2014). In the early 1950s, by electron microscopy, it was reported that mitochondria contain an outer membrane encasing an inner, often highly invaginated, membrane (Palade 1953). These membranes enclose two compartments: an internal space named the matrix and an intermembrane space between the outer and inner membranes. An outer membrane located transport protein, porin, forms aqueous channel which is permeable to molecules lower than 5000 daltons, while the inner membrane is only permeable to the selected small molecules that such as pyruvate and fatty acids enter into the matrix via a path formed by specific membrane transport proteins. As a result, the mitochondrial matrix contains highly specific molecules. The inner membrane is the site of OXPHOS and contains the proteins of the electron-transport chain, the proton pumps, and the ATP synthases required for ATP production. The inner membrane forms a lot of infoldings denoted as cristae projecting into the matrix space, providing a site for biochemical reactions (Alberts 2014). The human mitochondrion contains a compact circular genome, the mtDNA, comprising 16,569 bps encoding 13 polypeptides, 2 messenger ribonucleic acids (mRNAs) and 22 transfer ribonucleic acids (tRNAs). The 13 proteins are components of the OXPHOS process (Anderson, Bankier et al. 1981, Schatz 1996).

1.2 EVOLUTION OF MITOCHONDRIAL DYNAMICS

1.2.1 History of mitochondrial dynamics

It is well known that mitochondria have different morphologies. In 1994, the dynamics of mitochondria in living cells was discovered and it was widely accepted that the mitochondrion is a dynamic organelle (Bereiter-Hahn and Voth 1994). In 1997, the first gene, fuzzy onions (Fzo) was discovered in Drosophila. It was required for mitochondrial fusion and involved in mitochondrial dynamics (Hales and Fuller 1997, Lu and SpringerLink 2011). The mitochondrial network is remarkably plastic (Figure 1). For an even distribution of

mitochondria within the cell, mitochondria enter into fission and form small or short tubules, punctate forms and aggregates (Figure 1A, B). Conversely, to meet the high energy demands, mitochondria appose and connect to each other in that way forming longer tubules, tubular networks, extremely long tubules and tubular clusters (Figure 1D, E). In certain conditions, the balance completely switches to fusion and leads to the formation of compact clusters (Figure 1F). Mitochondrial dynamics is determined by the interplay of fusion, fission, movement and positional tethering (Lackner 2013, Rafelski 2013, Hoppins 2014). Mitochondrial morphology changes dramatically by shifting the balance of fusion and fission events. In the past two decades, new microscopic techniques have facilitated the investigation of mitochondrial dynamics in response to cellular events within intact cells. We now understand that mitochondrial dynamics, along with altered cell metabolism, is involved in cell cycle regulation, apoptosis, mitophagy and Ca²⁺ signaling, and that abnormal mitochondrial dynamics is associated with many human diseases (McBride, Neuspiel et al. 2006, van der Bliek, Shen et al. 2013, Hoppins 2014).



Figure 1. Mitochondrial morphology in HEK 293T cells

Fig. 1. Mitochondrial morphology in HEK 293T cells stained with MitoTracker. (A) Mitochondrial fragmentation. (B) Mitochondrial aggregation. (C) Normal mitochondrial morphology. (D) Mitochondrial network. (E) Mitochondrial tubular cluster. (F) Mitochondrial compact cluster.

1.2.2 The components involved in mitochondrial dynamics

The essential proteins in mitochondrial fusion and fission belong to the dynamin related protein (DRP) family (Elgass, Pakay et al. 2013, Escobar-Henriques and Anton 2013). These proteins are large self-assembling GTPases. They are capable of binding to lipids and self-stimulation of its guanosine triphosphate (GTP) hydrolysis activity. The DRPs have three highly conserved domains. The GTPase domain is involved in GTP binding and hydrolysis; the middle domain and GTP effector domain (GED) play an important role in oligomerization and self-assembly; the region in-between of those two domains serves in lipid interaction (Praefcke and McMahon 2004, Lu and SpringerLink 2011). Three DRPs, mitofusin 1 (Mfn1) and mitofusin 2 (Mfn2) located in the mitochondrial outer membrane (MOM) and OPA1 in the mitochondrial fission, dynamin-related protein 1(Drp1), located both in the cytosol and on mitochondria, mediates a membrane scission event by GTP binding and

hydrolysis. Together these four mitochondrial DRPs constitute the core of the mitochondrial fusion and fission machineries, respectively and are subject to various regulatory mechanisms including proteolysis and post-translational modifications (Hoppins 2014). In mammals, in addition to the DRPs, a number of other mitochondria-shaping proteins have been identified to modulate and orchestrate mitochondrial dynamics, e.g. MIEFs, Mff, hFis1, MTP18, Endo B1 and others (Zhao, Lendahl et al. 2013).

1.3 MITOCHONDRIAL FUSION AND FISSION

In principle, the same type of mitochondrial fission and fusion processes occur in yeast and mammals, but the proteins involved vary and the regulation is more complex in mammals than in yeast. Due to the fact that mitochondrial dynamics has been studied mostly in yeast, several of the key mammalian proteins were described quite recently. This thesis has contributed to the identification of novel proteins involved in mitochondrial dynamics in human.

1.3.1 Mitochondrial fission

Mitochondrial fission is important for the cells ability to maintain an adequate number of mitochondria to continue the normal cellular events (Youle and van der Bliek 2012). By mitochondrial fission, the cell generates new organelles and performs a quality control of mitochondria, targeting dysfunctional mitochondria for elimination by mitophagy (da Silva, Mariotti et al. 2014). Drp1 (Dnm1p in yeast) is the major player in mitochondrial division. In yeast, the machinery of Dnm1p-dependent mitochondrial fission requires Fis1p, Mdv1p, or its paralogue, Caf4p. In mitochondrial division, Dnm1p interacts with Fis1p at the site of the tetratricopeptide-repeat (TRP) motif via adaptor proteins Mdv1p/Caf4p in the cytosol. Fis1p functions as the mitochondrial receptor for Dnm1p, aggregating the self-assembling Dnm1p at the mitochondrial fission sites and at the same time stimulating mitochondrial membrane constriction in a GTP-dependent manner (Otera, Ishihara et al. 2013). Another proposed model suggests that Mdm36 is required for the formation of protein complexes of Dnm1p and Num1p, ensuring mitochondrial fission at the cell cortex in yeast (Hammermeister, Schodel et al. 2010). Therefore, there are two pathways regulating Dnm1p-mediated mitochondrial fission in yeast: Dnm1p-Mdv1p/Caf4p-Fis1p and Dnm1p-Mdm36p-Num1p complexes. In mammals, although the homologue of Fis1 has been identified, human Fis1 (hFis1) is not required for recruitment of Drp1 to mitochondria (Lee, Jeong et al. 2004). Moreover, homologues of Mdvp1, Caf4p, Num1p, and Mdm36p have not been found in mammalian cells (Zhao, Lendahl et al. 2013). Accordingly, the mechanisms of Dnm1p- and Drp1-mediated mitochondrial fission are highly divergent between yeast and mammals. Recently several fission-related proteins have been identified in mammals, but the detailed integrated functions of the complex mitochondrial fission machinery remain unresolved.

1.3.1.1 Drp1

Drp1 (Dnm1p in yeast) is a core component of the mitochondrial fission machinery and plays a central role in the process of mitochondrial fission in both yeast and mammals. The majority of Drp1 is present in the cytosol, but the protein shuttles between the cytoplasm and the mitochondrial outer menbrane (MOM). During mitochondrial fission, Drp1 is recruited from the cytosol to the mitochondrial surface and mediates fission (Bleazard, McCaffery et al. 1999, Smirnova, Griparic et al. 2001). The protein domain structure of Drp1 (Figure 2) (Frohlich, Grabiger et al. 2013) illuminated that Drp1 comprises a head (GTPase domain) sitting on a neck region which is known as the bundle signaling element, a stalk including the middle domain and GED, and a foot of the non-characterized variable domain (VD). The VD domain in Dnm1p is essential for binding to its adaptor Mdv1p aiming to modulate mitochondrial fission in yeast (Bui, Karren et al. 2012). However, in HeLa cells, a Drp1 mutant lacking the VD could still target to the MOM through the mitochondrial Drp1 receptor Mff, and induce mitochondrial fission. This indicates that the VD of Drp1 is dispensable for recruitment of Drp1 to the MOM and mitochondrial fission (Figure 2) (Strack and Cribbs 2012). GTP binding provides the driving force to form Drp1 helix assembly and GTP hydrolysis ensues. In the proposed model based on the Drp1 crystal structure, interface-2 in the center of the Drp1 stalks is the site for forming stable dimers. These dimers are the minimal units of Drp1 that can oligomerize further through interface-3, forming higher order assemblies. Interface-1 can show similar mode of assembling via interface-1 and -3 to form filaments. Interface-4, undescribed before, is required for assembling two neighboring Drp1filaments (Frohlich, Grabiger et al. 2013, Ugarte-Uribe and Garcia-Saez 2014). During mitochondrial fission, Drp1 assembles into helical structures, which wrap around mitochondrial tubules and constrict the bilayer membranes for fission (Legesse-Miller, Massol et al. 2003).

Drp1 constitutes the core of the mitochondrial fission machinery. Its pathophysiological roles have been highlighted in many studies. In Drp1 gene knockout models, loss of Drp1 results in embryonic lethality with developmental abnormalities: defects in forebrain and synapse development, defects in cardiac function and poor development of the liver at about embryonic day 12. Neural cell-specific (NS) Drp1 (-/-) mice died from brain hypoplasia with apoptosis after birth (Ishihara, Nomura et al. 2009, Wakabayashi, Zhang et al. 2009). Recently it has been reported that Drp1 affects human central nervous system (CNS) development. A newborn girl died 37 days after birth, carrying a Drp1dominant-negative mutation. She exhibited several neurological defects, including microencephaly, abnormal brain development and optic atrophy (Waterham, Koster et al. 2007, Westermann 2010).

Recruitment of Drp1 from the cytosol to the mitochondria is an essential step in mitochondrial fission. In mammals, four mitochondria-anchored proteins hFis1, Mff and MIEFs (MIEF1 and MIEF2) have been identified as potential mitochondrial receptors for Drp1. However, the different mechanisms by which Drp1 is recruited to mitochondria via these receptors are still incompletely understood.

1.3.1.2 Fis1

Fis1 is an integral membrane protein with its carboxyl-terminal tail anchored in the MOM. It functions as a potential receptor to recruit Drp1 to mitochondria. The N-terminus of Fis1 protrudes to the cytoplasm and its C-terminus to the intermembrane space (IMS) (Mozdy, McCaffery et al. 2000, Yoon, Krueger et al. 2003). The amino-terminus of Fis1 consists of six α -helices. The central four helices consist of two TRP motifs which are thought to be responsible for the recruitment of Drp1 to mitochondria in a TRP-dependent manner (Figure 2) (Suzuki, Neutzner et al. 2005, Zhang and Chan 2007). Conversely, in co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP) experiments little or no interaction was observed between Drp1

and Fis1 (Yu, Fox et al. 2005, Wells, Picton et al. 2007), and Chan et al. suggested that the interaction between Drp1 and Fis1 requires adaptor proteins (Lu and SpringerLink 2011).

The role of Fis1 in mitochondrial fission has been challenged recently. José Marín-García said "Although previous studies have demonstrated that overexpression of Fis1 has led to mitochondrial fragmentation and its depletion has resulted in interconnected mitochondrial networks caution should be taken interpreting these data, as these manipulations can induce nonphysiological stress causing perturbations of the mitochondrial morphology" (Marin-García and SpringerLink 2013). hFis1 is evenly dispersed on the MOM, while the pool of Drp1 foci on the MOM is punctate. Depletion or exogenous expression of hFis1 neither affects Drp1 recruitment to mitochondria nor modulates mitochondrial morphology markedly (Suzuki, Jeong et al. 2003, Lee, Jeong et al. 2004, Otera, Wang et al. 2010). Recently Koirala et al. showed that Mdv1p in yeast is membrane-tethered, concomitantly recruiting Dnm1p to mitochondria independent of Fis1p (Koirala, Guo et al. 2013). Zhao et al. suggested that there are additional proteins or molecular signals potentially involved in the recruitment of Drp1 to the mitochondrial surface (Zhao, Lendahl et al. 2013). Altogether, Fis1 seems not to be a critical protein in the regulation of Drp1 recruitment in mammals.

Conversely, in hypoxia-induced mitochondrial fission, knockdown of Fis1 by shFis1 lentivirus diminished mitochondrial fragmentation in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) (Kim, Scimia et al. 2011). Fis1 can act in sequence with Mff at the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) – mitochondrial interface to couple stress-induced mitochondrial fission with downstream degradation processes (Shen, Yamano et al. 2014). It has been reported that both the amount of Drp1 at the mitochondrial surface and the Drp1-Fis1 interaction could be increased upon apoptotic stimuli activated by anti-Fas (CD95) IgM antibody (Ciarlo, Manganelli et al. 2010). Given that, it is likely that Fis1-Drp1 mediated fission predominately occurs in cells suffering from cellular stress.

In summary, the mechanism of Fis1-mediated mitochondrial fission remains unclear and there could be other proteins cooperating with Fis1 in the regulation of Drp1 recruitment.

1.3.1.3 Mitochondrial fission factor (Mff)

Mff is a tail anchored protein, which was first identified in a small interfering RNA (siRNA) screen in *Drosophila* cells. It has N-terminal heptad repeats, coiled-coil domain, and a C-terminal transmembrane tail anchored in the MOM (Figure 2). A homologue of Mff exists in human. Through alternative splicing, the human Mff gene can generate at least nine isoforms (Gandre-Babbe and van der Bliek 2008). Knockdown of Mff by siRNA promotes mitochondrial elongation and dramatically decreases the amount of Drp1 on the MOM. On the other hand, overexpression of Mff induces mitochondrial fragmentation and enhanced Drp1 targeting to mitochondria. The N-terminus of Mff is required for recruitment of Drp1 to the MOM (Gandre-Babbe and van der Bliek 2008, Otera, Wang et al. 2010, Zhao, Liu et al. 2011, Liu, Yu et al. 2013). Otera and Mihara found that the punctate foci of Mff diffused within the MOM when Drp1 was depleted. They suggested that Drp1 affects oligomerization of Mff and that Mff functions as a Drp1 receptor to mediate fission (Otera, Ishihara et al. 2013). In addition, a recent study showed that the R376 residue in the Drp1 stalk is required

for its interaction with Mff, assembly into spirals and mitochondrial fission (Strack and Cribbs 2012).

1.3.1.4 MIEFs

Mitochondrial elongation factor 1 (MIEF1/MiD51) was discovered by searching a random subcellular localization screen of human proteins fused to green fluorescent protein (GFP) (Simpson, Wellenreuther et al. 2000). MIEF1 was identified as a mitochondrial protein, which is encoded by the MIEF1 gene on chromosome 22. This gene was previously named SMCR7L. Ectopic expression of MIEF1 induces mitochondrial elongation. Mitochondrial elongation factor 2 (MIEF2/MiD49) was subsequently discovered by protein sequence homology search, and this protein is encoded by the MIEF2 gene on chromosome 17, which was previously named SMCR7. MIEF1 and MIEF2 proteins share 45% amino acid sequence identity. Both MIEFs contain a predicted N-terminal transmembrane (TM) domain anchoring the proteins to the MOM. The C-terminus of MIEFs is facing the cytoplasm (Palmer, Osellame et al. 2011, Zhao, Liu et al. 2011, Liu, Yu et al. 2013). Recently, it has been reported that a nucleotidyl transferase domain is located in the central region of MIEF1. MIEF1 forms a dimer and binds adenosine diphosphate (ADP) in this region (Figure 2). The crystal structure study indicated that ADP is dispensable for MIEF1 in the recruitment of Drp1 to mitochondria, but it could activate Drp1 assembly and GTP hydrolysis (Loson, Liu et al. 2014).

MIEF1 and MIEF2 appear to have many similar functions. They are N-terminally anchored in the MOM, recruit Drp1 to mitochondria and interact with Drp1 and hFis1. Ectopic expression of MIEF1 or MIEF2 induces extensive mitochondrial fusion. Despite sharing 45% amino acid sequence identity, to some extent, there are functional discrepancies between MIEF1 and MIEF2. When comparing the mRNA expression levels of MIEF1 and MIEF2 in human fetal and adult tissues, MIEF1 is highly expressed in fetal tissues, MIEF2 in adult tissues. MIEF2 has a higher potency than MIEF1 to promote mitochondrial fusion. Fis1 and Mff could only partially rescue MIEF2 induced fusion, while most of the fusion phenotype induced by MIEF1 was reversed by hFis1 and Mff. Oligomers of MIEF2 formed higher order assemblies requiring the N-terminal amino acid residues 1-49 (Figure 2). In the MIEF1 amino acid sequence residues 109-154 were essential for oligmerization but not for Drp1 binding (Figure 2). Dimers were largely observed for MIEF1 (Zhao, Liu et al. 2011, Liu, Yu et al. 2013). Additionally, antimycin A, an inhibitor of complex III of the electron transport chain, induced mitochondrial fragmentation in MIEF1/MiD51-expressing MEFs which were depleted of Fis1 and Mff but this did not occur in MIEF2/MiD49-expressing cells (Loson, Liu et al. 2014). In summary, this indicates that MIEF1 and MIEF2 also have divergent functions in mitochondrial fission.

MIEFs have been discovered to recruit Drp1 to the mitochondrial surface resulting in extensive mitochondrial fusion by inhibition of Drp1 activity. The process is independent of hFis1, Mff, and Mfn2 (Zhao, Liu et al. 2011, Loson, Song et al. 2013, Palmer, Elgass et al. 2013). Nevertheless, the function of MIEF1/2 in mitochondrial dynamics is still under debate. Zhao et al. showed that MIEF1 recruits Drp1 to mitochondria but promotes fusion by sequestering Drp1 in an inactive state on mitochondria. Depletion of MIEF1 by siRNA in HeLa cells induced mitochondrial fragmentation (Zhao, Liu et al. 2011). On the other hand,

Palmer et al. reported that double knockdown of MIEF1 and MIEF2 in COS7 cells results in an irregular distribution of the mitochondrial network and fused mitochondria. At the same time the pool of Drp1 foci was decreased on mitochondria. Palmer et al. therefore proposed that MIEF1 and MIEF2 are mediators of mitochondrial fission (Palmer, Osellame et al. 2011). Recently, Palmer et al. clarified that overexpression of MIEF1/2 caused unopposed mitochondrial fusion events by blocking Drp1 activity along with elongation of peroxisomes. By PEG cell fusion assay, they elaborated that Mfn1 and Mfn 2 were required for MIEFmediated fusion. In addition, MIEF appeared to have a higher capacity to recruit Drp1 than Mff or Fis1 have (Loson, Song et al. 2013, Palmer, Elgass et al. 2013). Nowadays, it has been reported that Mff, MIEF1 and MIEF2 recruit Drp1 in proximity of PTEN-induced putative kinase 1 (PINK1) and Parkin on depolarized mitochondria. But, only depletion of MIEF1/MiD51 and MIEF2/MiD49 attenuated mitochondrial fragmentation and mitochondrial clearance after 24 h of Carbonyl cyanide m-chlorophenyl hydrazone (CCCP) treatment. Remarkably, downregulation of MIEF1, functioning upstream of mitophagy, suppressed Parkin-dependent mitochondrial loss and mitophagy (Buhlman, Damiano et al. 2014).

The main debate has dealt with the potentially different roles of MIEFs in fusion or fission. There are several possible explanations to the different observations after knockdown of MIEFs. Firstly, in these studies, different cell lines were used for the experiments, and differences between cell lines could result in divergent conclusions. Secondly, different siRNA products and siRNA side effects on e.g. endogenous microRNAs could be another reason for the inconsistent results. As the MIEFs are recently discovered, we still know very little about their potential functions in mitochondrial dynamics. The detailed mechanisms by which MIEFs, Mff, and hFis1orchestrate Drp1 recruitment and regulate mitochondrial fission are still unknown. From my point of view, MIEFs could work on both sides affecting both mitochondrial fission and fusion. They could fine tune the balance of fission and fusion by interactions with different regulatory proteins in mitochondrial dynamics. The mechanisms of MIEF-related fusion and fission events are still an open question and need to be studied in depth in the future.



Figure 2. Domain structure of key mitochondrial outer membrane fission proteins in human.

1.3.1.5 Additional mitochondrial outer membrane and inner membrane fission proteins

Ganglioside-induced differentiation-associated protein1 (GDAP1), endophilin B1 (Endo B1), mitochondrial protein of 18 kDa (MTP18), and mitochondrial targeting GxxxG motif (MTGM) protein are additional regulatory factors involved in mitochondrial fission. GDAP1 is anchored in the MOM by its C-terminal TM region. Overexpression of GDAP1 induces Drp1-mediated mitochondrial fission, while depletion of GDAP1 promotes mitochondrial fusion. GDAP1 mutations have been discovered in peripheral neuropathy Charcot-Marie-Tooth (Niemann, Ruegg et al. 2005, Pedrola, Espert et al. 2005). Endo B1 is primarily distributed in the cytosol and involved in lipid remodeling of the MOM. It can be recruited to the MOM resulting in mitochondrial fragmentation. Endo B1 can be activated by Bax, and is involved in remodeling of the mitochondrial membrane in apoptosis (Pedrola, Espert et al. 2005). The MTP18 is a MIM-associated protein. Depletion of MTP18 results in fusion, while fission is reduced upon overexpression (Tondera, Czauderna et al. 2005).

MTGM (also termed Romo1) is an integral membrane protein of the MIM. The protein is highly conserved from yeast to human with the GxxxG motif which presumably mediates protein-protein interaction. In mammals, MTGM orthologs share 100% amino acid identity. Knockdown of MTGM results in mitochondrial elongation, whereas overexpression of

MTGM induces fragmentation in a Drp1-dependent manner (Zhao, Liu et al. 2009). This was the first time that MTGM was identified as a potential fission regulator localized in the MIM. As MTGM is anchored in the MIM, accordingly, it is conceivable that MTGM could be a candidate protein bridging the outer and inner membranes in the process of fission. MTGM is highly abundant in brain tumor cells and tumor tissues. In glioblastoma, knockdown of MTGM by siRNA resulted in a decrease of mitochondrial ROS level, while overexpression of MTGM increased the ROS production (Zhao, Liu et al. 2009, Yu, Song et al. 2014). In addition, it has been reported that MTGM is a potential diagnostic biomarker for non-small cell lung cancer (Lee, Lee et al. 2014). It is compelling that MTGM bridges the mechanisms of mitochondrial dynamics and ROS production in multiple types of cancer. More recently, it was shown that knockdown of MTGM led to mitochondrial fusion in HeLa cells, while overexpression of MTGM cDNA restored the normal mitochondrial network morphology in MTGM depleted U2OS cells (Norton, Ng et al. 2014). That finding is the opposite of our finding reported in paper iii (Zhao, Liu et al. 2009) of this thesis. In adenocarcinoma A549 cells (p53 wild type), upregulation of endogenous Romo1 (MTGM) resulted in partial cell death and cell growth inhibition (Kim, Kim et al. 2014), which is consistent with our finding that overexpression of MTGM results in mitochondrial fission and stalls the cells in S phase. We postulate that the divergent findings are due to the use of different cells for the experiments or to side effects from the siRNA treatment. Further studies are required to characterize the MTGM functions in mitochondrial dynamics.

1.3.2 Mitochondrial fusion

Three dynamin-related GTPases constitute the core components of the mitochondrial fusion machinery in mammals, including Mfn1, Mfn2, and OPA1. Mfn1 and Mfn2 are required for fusion of the MOM, and OPA1 for fusion of the MIM. These proteins coordinate the fusion process in both the mitochondrial outer and inner membranes (Rojo, Legros et al. 2002).

Fusion events are required to facilitate maximal ATP production especially in the nervous system which has the highest energy demand (Rugarli and Langer 2012). Mitochondrial fusion helps the cells to cope with stress stimuli, maintaining normal OXPHOS and the mitochondrial membrane potential. By fusion, the healthy mitochondria can complement the dysfunctional ones with mtDNAs, solutes, metabolites, and proteins. Additionally, mitochondrial fusion is crucial for embryonic development (Chen and Chan 2010, Youle and van der Bliek 2012). The mechanisms by which Mfns and OPA1 coordinately work to promote fusion of the MOM and MIM are still unclear.



Figure 3. Domain structure of key fusion proteins in mammals.

1.3.2.1 Mitofusins (Mfns)

Mfns (Fzo1p in yeast), termed Mfn1 and Mfn2 in mammals, are large GTPases localized in mitochondria where they regulate mitochondrial fusion. Mfns are anchored to the MOM with two TM domains, and their N- and C-termini are both opposing the cytoplasm (Escobar-Henriques and Anton 2013). The GTPase domain is located in the N-terminus, followed by a coiled-coil heptad repeat (HR1). The C-terminus has another coiled-coil heptad repeat (HR2) (Figure 3). In yeast, Fzo1p (Mfns) has an additional heptad repeat (HPN) in front of the GTPase domain but this is not present in mammals (Rojo, Legros et al. 2002, Honda, Aihara et al. 2005, Griffin and Chan 2006). All the HRs are important for Mfn's function. Like dynamin, mammalian Mfns can execute oligomerization by GTP-binding (Santel, Frank et al. 2003, Ishihara, Eura et al. 2004). Within Mfns, the interaction between HR1 and HR2 is dependent on GTPase activity and an intact N-terminal domain of Mfns (Rojo, Legros et al. 2002, Honda, Aihara et al. 2005).

Mouse knockout (KO) studies have provided clear evidence that these proteins are essential for mitochondrial fusion. In mice either Mfn1 or Mfn2 knockout results in embryonic lethality because of functional placental defect (Chen, Detmer et al. 2003). When Mfn1 was depleted after placental formation, mice appeared normal, whereas when Mfn2 was depleted after placental formation, mice displayed impaired cerebellar development and lethality at day 1 after birth (Chen, McCaffery et al. 2007). Mfn2 depletion results in impairment of the mitochondrial membrane potential (Bach, Pich et al. 2003). Isolated MEF cells lacking both Mfn1 and Mfn2 showed a series of cellular dysfunctions, including impairment of mitochondrial membrane potential, delayed cell growth and decreased cellular respiration, while cells lacking either Mfn1 or Mfn2 maintain mitochondrial fusion in low levels and survive from severer cellular dysfunction. This indicates that both homotypic and heterotypic interactions of Mfns can inducing mitochondrial fusion (Chen, Chomyn et al. 2005, Escobar-Henriques and Anton 2013) and suggests that Mfn1 and Mfn2 possess redundant functions to compensate for potential defects in fusion functions if either protein becomes inactivated.

Although Mfn1 and Mfn2 share 80% similarity, they still have distinct functions. Purified recombinant Mfn1 exhibits eightfold higher GTPase activity than Mfn2, and Mfn1 is mainly responsible for GTP-dependent membrane tethering (Ishihara, Eura et al. 2004). The *trans* interactions for apposing mitochondria are mainly dependent on Mfn1 (Benard and Karbowski 2009). The pro-apoptotic proteins Bax and Bak preferentially associate with Mfn2 (Lu and SpringerLink 2011). These findings indicate that the two mitochondrial fusion proteins Mfn1 and Mfn2 are functionally divergent to some extent.

1.3.2.2 OPA1

OPA1 (Mgm1p in yeast) is widely expressed and is localized in the MIM with discrete foci (Escobar-Henriques and Anton 2013). OPA1 is a nuclear-encoded protein that is a key protein in fusion of the MIM (Wong, Wagner et al. 2000, Wong, Wagner et al. 2003). It has an N-terminal mitochondrial targeting motifs by which OPA1 is targeted to the MIM. The mitochondrial targeting sequence is cleaved by matrix-processing peptidase (MPP) (Westermann 2010). OPA1 comprises the GTPase domain, middle domain, GED with a coiled-coil motif, and multiple heptad repeats (HR) (Figure 3). Eight OPA1 isoforms derive from alternative splicing and alternative processing at two sites in the N-terminus (Delettre, Griffoin et al. 2001, Song, Chen et al. 2007, Marin-Garcia and SpringerLink 2013). In mammals, the presenilin associated, rhomboid-like (PARL), the IMS and matrix AAA proteases, and the MIM peptidase OMA1 have been identified to catalyze the alternative processing of OPA1. Consequently long and short isoforms are generated. The long OPA1(1-OPA1) isoforms possess an N-terminal TM domain anchored in the MIM, while the short OPA1(s-OPA1) isoforms lack the TM and are targeted to the MIM through associating with 1-OPA1(Cipolat, Rudka et al. 2006, Griparic, Kanazawa et al. 2007, Ehses, Raschke et al. 2009, Head, Griparic et al. 2009). It is reported that in OPA1-null cells, re-introduced I-OPA1 and s-OPA1 work together to facilitate MIM fusion. On their own, 1-OPA1 or s-OPA1 is insufficient for fusion (Song, Chen et al. 2007). On the other hand, Ruchika et al. reported that I-OPA1 is adequate to maintain fusion in MEF cells. The proteolysis process of OPA1 is dispensable for mitochondrial fusion but crucial for mitochondrial integrity and quality control (Anand, Wai et al. 2014). In vitro studies of OPA1 mutants with GTP hydrolysis, oligomerization and lipid interaction deficiencies, all presented similar phenotypes to that of OPA1 deletion (Meeusen, DeVay et al. 2006, Rujiviphat, Meglei et al. 2009, Zick, Duvezin-Caubet et al. 2009). Hence, GTP hydrolysis, oligomerization and lipid interactions are essential for OPA1 functions in mitochondrial fusion.

OPA1 KO in mice is embryonic lethal. Repression of OPA1 in mammals slows down cell growth and decreases oxygen consumption (Escobar-Henriques and Anton 2013). Mutations in OPA1 cause autosomal dominant optic atrophy connected with a number of secondary neurological defects such as ataxia, deafness, sensory motor neuropathy and myopathy (Amati-Bonneau, Milea et al. 2009). Dysregulation of OPA1 results in alteration of cristae morphology, damage of mtDNA replication, mtDNA deletions, and even loss of mtDNA (Olichon, Baricault et al. 2003, Hudson, Amati-Bonneau et al. 2008). The function of OPA1 in cristae formation arises by oligomeric self-interactions instead of fusion processes (Sesaki, Southard et al. 2003). Moreover, OPA1 could stabilize the mitochondrial respiratory chain complexes and regulate OXPHOS by interacting with respiratory complexes I, II and III. In summary, MIM fusion is critical for the maintenance of mtDNA and metabolic function of mitochondria (Chen, Chomyn et al. 2005, Zanna, Ghelli et al. 2008, Chen and Chan 2010).

1.3.3 Regulation of mitochondrial dynamics

Mitochondria keep changing their morphology by controlling the ratio of two opposing processes, fusion and fission. As changes in the balance between these opposing processes can occur rapidly, many studies focus on post-translational modifications of the proteins involved in mitochondrial dynamics. A number of investigations focus on modifications of Drp1 in fission and of OPA1 in fusion.

1.3.3.1 Regulation of mitochondrial fission

Drp1 SUMOylation

The modification of proteins by small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO) regulates many cellular processes. SUMOvlation plays an important role in mitochondrial fission (Figure 4). SUMO1 belongs to the SUMO protein family. It is involved in nuclear transport, transcription, cell cycle transition, and protein stability (Marchiani, Tamburrino et al. 2011). Ectopic expression of SUMO1 stabilizes Drp1 on the mitochondrial membrane associating with Bax and inducing mitochondrial fission. Apoptosis induces SUMO1 conjugation to Drp1 in a Bax/Bak-dependent manner, increasing Drp1's mitochondrial association (Wasiak, Zunino et al. 2007, Zunino, Schauss et al. 2007). The conjugation of SUMO1 to its substrates requires a SUMO E3 ligase. The mitochondrial-anchored protein ligase (MAPL) is the first mitochondria-anchored SUMO E3 ligase identified to sumoylate Drp1. Overexpression of MAPL results in mitochondrial fragmentation (Braschi, Zunino et al. 2009). SENP5 is a SUMO protease. Overexpression of SENP5 promotes removal of SUMO1 from Drp1 and Drp1 degradation, subsequently inhibits the SUMO1-induced mitochondrial fission. In contrast, knockdown of SENP5 increases Drp1 sumoylation and promotes fission (Zunino, Schauss et al. 2007). Additionally, SUMO2/3-mediated Drp1 sumovlation decreases Drp1 on mitochondria and hinders Drp1-mediated apoptosis, which could be reversed by increase of SENP3 (Guo, Hildick et al. 2013). All these data indicate that SUMOylation of Drp1 by different proteins is important for the regulation of Drp1-mediated mitochondrial fission.

Drp1 Phosphorylation

There are two Drp1 phosphorylation sites that have undergone extensive study, amino acids Ser616 (Ser585 in rat Drp1) and Ser637 (numbering corresponds to human Drp1, isoform 1) (Figure 4). During mitosis, phosphorylation of Drp1-Ser616 by Cdk1/cyclin B results in mitochondrial fission and ensures the proper distribution of mitochondria into daughter cells (Taguchi, Ishihara et al. 2007). The mitotic kinase Aurora A phosphorylates a small Ras-like GTPase, RALA at Ser194 and increases the pool of RALA and its effector RALBP1 on the mitochondria. The RALA/RALBP1 complex stimulates phosphorylation of Drp1 by Cdk1/cyclin B resulting in mitochondrial fission. Knockdown of Mff by RNAi impaired the recruitment of Drp1 to mitochondria in mitosis (Kashatus, Lim et al. 2011).

cAMP-dependent protein kinase A (PKA) phosphorylates human Drp1 at Ser637 in response to different stimuli (Cribbs and Strack 2007). Mitochondrial fission is inhibited by this

phosphorylation through blocking the intra-molecular interaction between the middle domain and GED domain, GTP hydrolysis and Drp1 recruitment of mitochondria (Chang and Blackstone 2007, Cribbs and Strack 2007, Otera, Ishihara et al. 2013). Ca^{2+/}calmodulindependent protein kinase I α (CaMKI α) regulates Drp1 phosphorylation at Ser637 that can be activated by high K⁺ treatment. Although PKA-mediated phosphorylation inhibits Drp1mediated fission, phosphorylation by CaMKI α increases Drp1 recruitment to mitochondria and induces fission (Han, Lu et al. 2008).

The Ser637 (Ser656 in rat) phosphorylation can be dephosphorylated by two phosphatases, Ca²⁺/CaM-dependent protein phosphatase calcineurin (CaN) and PP2A/B β 2, which activates Drp1 and mitochondrial fission. Phosphorylation of the mitochondrial targeting sequence of B β 2 regulates the recruitment of PP2A to the MOM. Subsequently PP2A/B β 2 dephosphorylates Drp1 at Ser656 (rat) (Merrill, Slupe et al. 2013). CaN-induced dephosphorylation of Drp1 at Ser637 accompanies mitochondrial depolarization and results in mitochondrial fragmentation. However, the Drp1S637D phosphomimetic mutant is distributed in the cytosol, while the Drp1S637A dephosphomimetic mutant is localized to mitochondria. The data indicate that dephosphorylation of Drp1 at Ser637 is required for Drp1 recruitment to mitochondria and inducing mitochondrial fragmentation (Cereghetti, Stangherlin et al. 2008).

Drp1 S-Nitrosylation

S-nitrosylation is also involved in the regulation of mitochondrial fission. In Alzheimer's disease (AD), nitric oxide (NO), which is produced in response to β-amyloid protein, S-nitrosylates Drp1 and forms S-nitrosylated Drp1 (Figure 4). This activates mitochondrial fission with resulting synaptic loss and neuronal damage (Cho, Nakamura et al. 2009). While another report showed that the mechanism underlying NO-induced mitochondrial fragmentation in AD is not regulated by Drp1 S-nitrosylation because the S-nitrosylated Drp1 levels in brains of age-matched normal and AD patients were not significantly different. Instead, the NO-induced mitochondrial fragmentation in AD was found to be regulated by Drp1 phosphorylation at Ser616 (Bossy, Petrilli et al. 2010). It is obvious that the regulation of Drp1 by S-nitrosylation is still controversial and needs to be determined in further studies.

Drp1 Ubiquitination

In concert with SUMOylation, ubiquitination regulates Drp1 function via March5 (also known as MITOL) (Figure 4). March5 is a mitochondria-associated N-terminal RING-finger motif E3 ubiquitin ligase which is located in the MOM (Otera, Ishihara et al. 2013). March5 knockdown results in mitochondrial fragmentation. Likewise, overexpression of a March5 mutant with deficient ubiquitin ligase activity induces fission (Nakamura, Kimura et al. 2006, Yonashiro, Ishido et al. 2006). On the contrary, Karbowski et al. showed that overexpression of the March5 RING mutants and knockdown of March5 by siRNA induced an abnormal mitochondrial elongation (Karbowski, Neutzner et al. 2007, Park, Lee et al. 2010). Recently, it has been shown that Drp1 and MAP1B are substrates for March5. March5-knockout MEFs are sensitive to NO-induced stress. It is suggested that March5 can protect the MEFs from NO-induced dysfunction of mitochondrial dynamics (Nagashima,

Tokuyama et al. 2014). Recently, Wang et al. reported that Parkin promoted mitochondrial fusion by directly ubiquitinating Drp1 and reducing Drp1 levels (Wang, Song et al. 2011), where the opposite opinion is that Drp1 is not a direct target of the PINK/Parkin pathway (Gegg, Cooper et al. 2010, Tanaka, Cleland et al. 2010). The effect of March5- and Parkin-mediated ubiquitination of Drp1 on mitochondrial dynamics therefore remains controversial.



Figure 4. Drp1 post-translational modifications.



PARL

In mammals, PARL (Pcp1 in yeast, Rho-7 in fly) is a mitochondrial rhomboid protease with seven membrane-spanning regions. It is located in the intermembrane space (IM) (Yaffe 2003). PARL is conserved throughout eukaryotes. Expression of mammalian PARL in yeast can substitute the function of its yeast ortholog (McQuibban, Saurya et al. 2003). In apoptosis, PARL has been reported to involve in the heat shock response, release of s-OPA1 isoforms from mitochondria and accumulation of a soluble intermembrane space form of OPA1 (Cipolat, Rudka et al. 2006, Sanjuan Szklarz and Scorrano 2012, Escobar-Henriques and Anton 2013).

YME1L and OMA1

YME1L is an i-AAA protease which is responsible for the recognition and degradation of mis-folded proteins in mitochondria. YME1L is anchored in the MIM and its protease domain facing the intermembrane space (Song, Chen et al. 2007, Escobar-Henriques and Anton 2013). OMA1, located in the inner membrane of mitochondria, is required for the stress-induced cleavage of OPA1 and mitochondrial fragmentation. OMA1 and YME1L cleave OPA1 at S1 and S2 respectively (Figure 3), by proteolysis. Thus there are two s-OPA1 isoforms, c and e generated by OMA1 processing. Another s-OPA1, d, is generated by YME1L processing. Depletion of YME1L impairs the processing of OPA1 at S2 and causes mitochondrial fragmentation, perturbs cristae morphogenesis, and renders cells susceptible to apoptosis (Anand, Wai et al. 2014).

Bax/Bak

Many apoptosis-related proteins have been suggested to be regulators of mitochondrial dynamics. Bcl-2 family members, especially Bax/Bak, were widely studied in the regulation of mitochondrial morphology. These proteins play special roles via their interaction with mitochondrial dynamics proteins (Autret and Martin, 2009; Martinou and Youle, 2011).

In healthy cells Bax and Bak are required for the normal level of mitochondrial fusion through activation of Mfn2 and altering its distribution and mobility on mitochondria (Karbowski, Norris et al. 2006). Bak is a MOM-associated protein, which is capable of binding both Mfn1 and Mfn2, and shuttles between the cytosol and mitochondria (Brooks and Dong 2007, Hoppins, Edlich et al. 2011). In normal cells, Bax and Bak activate Mfn2, leading to its altered distribution and mobility to possible fusion sites and assembly. Bak has been shown to inhibit mitochondrial fission (Karbowski, Norris et al. 2006, Brooks and Dong 2007). In contrast, Hoppins and coworkers showed in an in vitro mammalian mitochondrial fusion assay that the soluble form of Bax can promote mitochondrial fusion when only Mfn2 is present on two tips of the fusion sites. It indicates that Bax is required for the particular homotypic Mfn2 complexes to induce fusion (Hoppins, Edlich et al. 2011, Ugarte-Uribe and Garcia-Saez 2014). When the shuttling of Bax from mitochondria to the cytosol is blocked, Bax ability to stimulate fusion is impaired (Hoppins, Edlich et al. 2011). In summary, Bax works like a cofactor in the regulation of mitochondrial fusion (Ugarte-Uribe and Garcia-Saez 2014).

Fusion model

Mitochondrial fusion might be a more complex process than fission. It requires mitofusins working on the MOM and OPA1 working on the MIM harmoniously. In fusion of the MOM, mitofusins in *cis* dimerize triggered by GTP binding. Physical in *trans* interactions among mitofusins facilitate bringing two mitochondria closer for the fusion process (Ishihara, Eura et al. 2004). GTP hydrolysis allows mitofusin ubiquitylation, remodels the membrane structure, and facilitates the MOM merging (Low, Sachse et al. 2009). In fusion of the MIM, at the beginning, the fusion process requires cleavage of the long OPA1 isoforms into short isoforms by YME1L-mediated proteolysis (Song, Chen et al. 2007). The ratio of 1-OPA1 and s-OPA1 is modulated by proteolysis that produces the proper combination of 1- and s- OPA1 facilitating inner membrane fusion. The 1-OPA1 forms act on membrane tethering, while the s-OPA1 contributes to GTPase activity. As soon as MOM fusion has been activated, 1- and s-OPA1 can form homo- and hetero-oligomers, which promote the contact between apposing inner membranes and achieve inner membrane fusion (Ishihara, Eura et al. 2004, Meeusen, DeVay et al. 2006, DeVay, Dominguez-Ramirez et al. 2009, Escobar-Henriques and Anton 2013).

1.4 TETHERING OF MITOCHONDRIA AND ER

The region of mitochondria and ER interaction is called mitochondria-associated ER membrane (MAM), which is also called ER-associated mitochondrial division (ERMD) site. This association is required for proper mitochondrial distribution, maintaining Ca²⁺ homeostasis and phospholipid biosynthesis. Mfn2 is localized both in mitochondria and in ER, and it connects these organelles to each other (da Silva, Mariotti et al. 2014). Nagashima et al. presented a novel hypothesis that March5 regulates ER and mitochondria

tethering by ubiquitination of mitochondrial Mfn2 and activation of Mfn2 GTP binding ability. The activated Mfn2 oligomerizes with the ER-localized Mfn2 and apposes the mitochondria to the ER (Nagashima, Tokuyama et al. 2014). At the site of ERMD, ER tubules encircle mitochondria, before Drp1 foci form in mitochondria, and mark the regions where the division events will predominantly occur. Drp1 and Mff are found at ERMD site. Mff is localized there in a Drp1-independent manner. The potential mechanism of ER regulating mitochondrial fission was suggested. Inverted formin-2 (INF2) is an inverted formin protein regulating F-actin nucleation and depolymerization. Both INF2 and actin have been found to localize at ERMD sites. INF2 marks the fission sites by facilitating Drp1 localization to mitochondria and promotes actin polymerization. This actin polymerization induced by INF2 generates a force that constricts mitochondria to a diameter compatible with the size of the Drp1 helical structure. Drp1 assembles in spirals at these sites, ultimately leading to mitochondrial fission (da Silva, Mariotti et al. 2014).

1.5 CALCIUM SIGNALING FROM ER TO THE MITOCHONDRION

 Ca^{2+} transfer occurs from the ER to mitochondria at MAM. Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor (Ins(1,4,5)P3R) on the ER membrane and the voltage-dependent anion selective channel protein 1 (VDAC1) on the MOM orchestrate the Ca^{2+} uptake in the MOM. In the MIM, the mitochondrial calcium uniporter (MCU) is a regulator of Ca^{2+} uptake (Rowland and Voeltz 2012). As a result, firstly, mitochondrial membrane proteins acquire Ca^{2+} for their functions. Secondly, Ca^{2+} oscillations can stimulate mitochondrial fission in a Drp1dependent manner, e.g. MIRO-mediated mitochondrial fission requires local Ca^{2+} influx, which has been found at the ERMD sites. Thirdly, local Ca^{2+} flux can stimulate apoptosis inducing cytochrome c release by opening the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) (Rowland and Voeltz 2012).

In addition to the Ca²⁺ transfer from the ER lumen to mitochondria, mitochondria are key players in the buffering of cytosolic Ca²⁺ overload and excitotoxicity (Szydlowska, Krowczynski et al. 2010). The MOM functions as a permeability barrier for both Ca²⁺ influx and efflux (Crompton, Barksby et al. 2002). Calcium enters mitochondrial matrix passively via the MCU that is driven by the mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta \Psi$ m) in the MIM (Baughman, Perocchi et al. 2011). In excitable cells, Ca²⁺ fluxes back into the cytoplasm via the mitochondrial Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (NCX_{mito}) (Wood-Kaczmar, Deas et al. 2013). Wood-Kaczmer et al. first reported that plasma membrane NCX2 and NCX3 present in human nerve cell mitochondria and work downstream of PINK1 protecting the cell from neurodegeneration induced by mitochondrial Ca²⁺ accumulation (Wood-Kaczmar, Deas et al. 2013). The NCX_{mito} buffering activity is regulated by A-Kinase anchoring protein AKAP121, which controls the mitochondrial membrane potential and oxidative phosphorylation (Scorziello, Savoia et al. 2013). Increasing AKAP121 levels can also control mitochondrial dynamics through the PKA- and AKAP121-depenent phosphorylation of Drp1 at Ser637 and attenuate hypoxia-induced mitochondrial fission (Kim, Scimia et al. 2011). Given that, it is conceivable that the NCX proteins may play a role in mitochondrial quality control and mitochondrial dynamics through association with PINK1 and AKAP121. Although the plasma membrane NCX2 and NCX3 proteins have been identified also in mitochondria, in addition to Ca^{2+} fluxes, other potential roles of the

NCXs in mitochondria remain unclear. Thus, it is compelling to uncover the mystery of NCX functions in different subcellular compartments.

1.6 MITOCHONDRIAL DYNAMICS AND APOPTOSIS

The Bcl-2 family is constituted by three subgroups. First, Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, Bcl-w, Mcl-1 and A1, which belong to the antiapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins, interact with proapoptotic proteins directly. Second, the intrinsic proapoptotic pathway including Bax and Bak, are involved in MOM permeabilization. Third, the BH3-only proteins, which share a common BH3 domain, are responsible to sense cell stress and initiate apoptosis (Garcia-Saez 2012).

Mitochondria are involved in the intrinsic Bax/Bak apoptotic pathway. The fission and fusion machineries are related to apoptosis in mammals (Elgass, Pakay et al. 2013, Escobar-Henriques and Anton 2013). The balance of mitochondrial fusion and fission alters the cells response to apoptosis and cells with fragmented mitochondria are more sensitive than cells with an interconnected network of mitochondria. A pivotal role in apoptosis is played by mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP), which releases cytochrome c, Smac/Diablo, and Omi from the intermembrane space into the cytosol to activate downstream cell death pathways (Martinou and Youle 2011, Garcia-Saez 2012).

Initially, apoptosis stimuli induced cell stress results in a highly interconnected mitochondrial network of mitochondria. Mitochondrial fusion can increase in response to the cellular accumulation of oxidized glutathione which modifies the oligomerization of Mfn2. Simultaneously, the I-OPA1 isoforms can be stabilized by a MIM protein, SLP-2, facilitating the fusion process. In this case, cells display a tubular mitochondrial network and are less prone to die in response to the cell stress (Friedman and Nunnari 2014). On basis of current studies, mitochondrial fusion inhibits apoptosis by sustaining cytochrome c in mitochondria and keeping cristae integrity mediated by OPA1 (Frezza, Cipolat et al. 2006).

With the progression of apoptosis, the balance of mitochondrial dynamics shifts from fusion to fission and MOMP occurs based on the formation of outer membrane homo-oligomeric pores composed of Bak and Bax that facilitates cytochrome c to leak out and activates the cascade of the intrinsic apoptosis pathway (Wasiak, Zunino et al. 2007, Youle and Strasser 2008, Westphal, Kluck et al. 2014). Bax/Bak and Drp1 mutually regulate their accumulation on mitochondria. Drp1 stimulates Bax oligomerization for enhancing MOMP on the mitochondrial membrane (Rowland and Voeltz 2012). In addition, Fis1 has been reported to participate in ER–mitochondrial communication in apoptosis. Fis1 interacts with the ER-located Bap31 at the MAM and induces Bap31 cleavage into the pro-apoptotic p20Bap31. Simultaneously, Fis1 transfers the apoptotic signal, procaspase-8, from mitochondria to Fis1-Bap31 complex and activates the release of Ca²⁺ from the ER. The Ca²⁺ efflux from the ER to the mitochondrial matrix induces apoptosis by interaction with cyclophilin D, then helps to form the MPTP and release cytochrome c (Iwasawa, Mahul-Mellier et al. 2011, Elgass, Pakay et al. 2013).

According to the current knowledge, mitochondrial dynamics and the apoptosis machinery possess a complex relationship and the ultimate regulatory mechanism in apoptosis still remains to be elucidated.

1.7 MITOCHONDRIAL DYNAMICS AND MITOPHAGY

Autophagy is a process of self-degradation of cellular components that are dysfunctional or residual within the cell. The organelles or portions of the cytosol targeted to undergo autophagy are sequestered by double-membrane autophagosomes that fuse with lysosomes or vacuoles and are broken down by resident hydrolases (He and Klionsky 2009, Westermann 2010). Mitophagy is the specific autophagic elimination of dysfunctional mitochondria and mediates regulation of mitochondrial number to meet cellular demands (Youle and Narendra 2011, Gomes and Scorrano 2013). Mitochondrial division generates two uneven daughter mitochondria, one with high membrane potential and high possibility for fusion and the other with decreased membrane potential, no or less mtDNA, low respiration activity, and reduced OPA1 levels. The latter loses the fusion capability and is prone to removal by mitophagy, in order to ensure mitochondrial quality (Twig, Elorza et al. 2008, Mouli, Twig et al. 2009, Westermann 2010).

Mitophagy is regulated by Parkin and PINK1 in different cells and mutations of Parkin and PINK1 have been discovered in Parkinson's disease (Youle and Narendra 2011). PINK1 is a serine/threonine kinase positioned in mitochondria. In healthy mitochondria, newly translated PINK1 is progressively targeted and degraded on the MIM. Parkin is an E3 ubiquitin ligase (Jin and Youle 2012). Upon mitochondrial depolarization, PINK1 is activated by phosphorylation and recruits cytosolic Parkin to mitochondria on the MOM, and subsequently ubiquitinates and degrades Mfns and Drp1in damaged mitochondria before the formation of autophagosomes (Narendra, Tanaka et al. 2008, Jin, Lazarou et al. 2010, Rakovic, Grunewald et al. 2011, Okatsu, Oka et al. 2012). In addition, Parkin is involved in proteasome-dependent degradation of MOM proteins, facilitating breakdown of the MOM (Yoshii, Kishi et al. 2011).

Several mitochondrial fission and fusion proteins contribute to the process of mitophagy. Drp1 is required for Bcl2/adenovirus E1B 19-kDa interacting protein 3 (Bnip3) induced mitophagy. Overexpression of Drp1K38E, a dominant negative mutant of Drp1 blocked mitochondrial fission and Bnip3-induced mitophagy (Lee, Lee et al. 2011). It has been shown that modest levels of ROS specifically induce mitophagy dependent on Drp1 (Frank, Duvezin-Caubet et al. 2012). High levels of hFis1 enhance mitophagy more than it triggers mitochondrial fragmentation (Gomes and Scorrano 2008). In contrast, knockdown of hFis1 in pancreatic β -cells by siRNA attenuates mitophagy and results in reduced respiration and repressed insulin secretion (Twig, Elorza et al. 2008). On the fusion side, upon membrane depolarization Parkin induces the ubiquitination of Mfn1 and Mfn2 leading to their degradation in a proteasome- and p97-dependent manner and blocking mitochondrial refusion (Tanaka, Cleland et al. 2010).

1.8 MITOCHONDRIAL DYNAMICS IN CANCER

Losing control of cell proliferation and resistance to apoptosis are both well-known characteristics of cancer. Both of these characteristics are accompanied by mitochondrial dysfunction. The Warburg effect shifts the cancer cells' metabolism from oxidative metabolism to aerobic glycolysis (Evan and Vousden 2001, Bonnet, Archer et al. 2007). Recently, Hanahan and Weinberg published the update of the review paper "Hallmarks of Cancer" and emphasized the new hallmarks, in which deregulating cellular energetics has been included. Altered energy metabolism works in concert with other well-established core hallmarks in cancer (Hanahan and Weinberg 2011). Mitochondrial fusion and fission are involved in regulating mitochondrial energy production. Mitochondria with the fusion phenotype maintain high membrane potential, generate more ATP, and inhibit mitophagy. Conversely, mitochondria with the fission phenotype have low membrane potential, low ATP production and facilitate apoptosis and mitophagy. Some direct connections between mitochondrial dynamics and cancer have been uncovered gradually. It has emerged that mitochondrial fusion and fission events are related to lung cancer. Inhibition of fission negatively affects cell cycle progression in cancer cells (Rehman, Zhang et al. 2012). In lung cancer cells and tumors without treatment, the phosphorylation of Drp1at Ser616 via cyclin E/CDK1 was activated and the phosphorylation ratio of Ser616 to Ser637 was increased. Mitochondria showed fragmentation. Seen from another point, Mfn2 was downregulated in the lung cancer compared with the adjacent healthy lung (Rehman, Zhang et al. 2012). In addition, high Drp1 expression potentially predicts recurrence and a greater cisplatin resistance (Chiang, Chen et al. 2009). Inhibition of Drp1 or activation of Mfn2 results in regression of human lung tumors in a xenotransplantation model (Rehman, Zhang et al. 2012, Archer 2013). More recently, the mitochondrial division inhibitor-1 (Mdivi-1), an inhibitor of Drp1, was found to regulate tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL)-induced apoptosis in human cancer cells. Mdivi-1 could induce cell death in malignant melanoma, lung cancer and osteosarcoma cells, while normal cells survive. Both mdivi-1 treatment and knockdown of Drp1 could sensitize cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. It was suggested that cancer cells are more vulnerable to changes in mitochondrial fusion and fission (Akita, Suzuki-Karasaki et al. 2014). Accordingly, both mitochondrial fusion and mitochondrial fission are involved in tumor development although the precise mechanisms are still unclear. At least, these findings can shed new light on mitochondrial dynamics in the field of cancer research, and manipulation of mitochondrial fusion and fission dynamics is promising novel therapeutic targets.

1.9 MITOCHONDRIAL DYNAMICS IN OTHER HUMAN DISEASES

Control of the balance between fusion and fission is very important in high energydemanding cells, such as cardiac, skeletal muscle, and neuronal cells. Disorders of mitochondrial dynamics are implicated in neurodegenerative, endocrine, and cardiovascular diseases. Mutations in key mitochondrial dynamics proteins have been identified in a variety of human diseases (Zuchner, Mersiyanova et al. 2004, Cho, Nakamura et al. 2009, Romanello, Guadagnin et al. 2010, Wang, Song et al. 2011, Ong, Hall et al. 2013). As neuronal cells are the most energy demanding to execute a number of cellular events, they are very sensitive to alterations of mitochondrial morphology. Several nervous system diseases are associated with dysregulation of mitochondrial fusion and fission, including Parkinson's disease (Chinta and Andersen 2008), Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy type 2A and 4A (Baxter, Ben Othmane et al. 2002, Cuesta, Pedrola et al. 2002, Zuchner, Mersiyanova et al. 2004), autosomal dominant optic atrophy (Alexander, Votruba et al. 2000, Delettre, Lenaers et al. 2000, Olichon, Guillou et al. 2006), abnormal brain development (Waterham, Koster et al. 2007), Huntington's disease (Wang, Lin et al. 2009, Haun, Nakamura et al. 2013), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Song, Song et al. 2013), and Alzheimer's disease (Cho, Nakamura et al. 2009). In the cardiovascular system, ischemia/reperfusion injuries, cardiomyopathy, and the diabetic heart have been associated with abnormal mitochondrial dynamics (Brooks, Wei et al. 2009, Ashrafian, Docherty et al. 2010, Makino, Scott et al. 2010, Ong, Subrayan et al. 2010, Sharp, Fang et al. 2014). Diabetes is also related to impairment of mitochondrial fusion (Twig, Hyde et al. 2008, Sebastian, Hernandez-Alvarez et al. 2012). In addition, many other diseases have emerged as more or less connected with changes in mitochondrial dynamics and further studies of mitochondrial dynamics in human disease will be compelling. Here I just briefly go through the above diseases and list the involved genes controlling mitochondrial fusion and fission, mitochondrial phenotypes and the pathological effects in the following table 1.

Disease	Affected gene	Mitochondrial phenotype	Effect	Reference
Parkinson's disease	Mutations of PINK1 or Parkin	Accumulation of damaged mitochondria	Increase of ROS production and degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in substantia nigra	(Chinta and Andersen 2008)
Charcot-Marie- Tooth neuropathy type 2A	Mutations of Mfn2	Deficient fusion	Degeneration of peripheral nerves	(Zuchner, Mersiyanova et al. 2004)
Charcot-Marie- Tooth neuropathy type 4A	Mutations of GDAP1	Deficient fusion	Degeneration of peripheral nerves	(Baxter, Ben Othmane et al. 2002, Cuesta, Pedrola et al. 2002)
Autosomal dominant optic atrophy	Mutations of OPA1	Deficient fusion	Degeneration of retinal ganglion cells and atrophy of optic nerve	(Alexander, Votruba et al. 2000, Delettre, Lenaers et al. 2000, Olichon, Guillou et al. 2006)
Abnormal brain development	Mutations of Drp1	Deficient fission	Microcephaly, abnormal brain development and optic atrophy	(Waterham, Koster et al. 2007)
Huntington's Disease	Mutation of Huntingtin, activates Drp1	Increased fission	Choreoathetosis, dementia, and premature death	(Wang, Lin et al. 2009, Haun,

Table 1. Mitochondrial dynamics in human diseases

				al. 2013)
Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis	Mutation of superoxide dismutase 1, activates Drp1	Increased fission	Motor neuron degeneration	(Song, Song et al. 2013)
Alzheimer's Disease	β-amyloid increases NO, S- nitrosylation of Drp1	Increased fission	Neuronal damage	(Cho, Nakamura et al. 2009)
Ischemia/Reper -fusion Injury	Drp1	Increased fission	Drp1 targeting to mitochondria, increased production of ROS and elevated Ca ²⁺ promoting diastolic cardiac dysfunction	(Ong, Subrayan et al. 2010, Sharp, Fang et al. 2014)
Cardiomyo- pathy	Drp1, Mfns, and OPA1	Disturbed mitochondrial morphology	Drp1 Python mutation mice suffer mitochondrial dynamics and ATP depletion	(Ashrafian, Docherty et al. 2010)
Diabetic Heart	Drp1 and OPA1	Increased fission	Elevated level of Drp1, reduced levels of OPA1	(Brooks, Wei et al. 2009, Makino, Scott et al. 2010)
Diabetes	Mfn2 and OPA1	Impaired fusion	Loss of OPA1/Mfn2, reduced mitochondrial biogenesis and oxygen consumption	(Twig, Hyde et al. 2008, Sebastian, Hernandez- Alvarez et al. 2012)

Nakamura et

2 AIM

The aims of this thesis are:

- Identification of novel mitochondrial proteins involved in the regulation of mitochondrial dynamics in human
- Molecular and functional characterization of MIEF1, MIEF2 and MTGM in mitochondrial dynamics
- Comparison of the molecular and functional characteristics between MIEF1 and MIEF2 in mitochondrial dynamics
- Elucidation of human NCX3 subcellular distribution and its function as a Na⁺/Ca²⁺ transporter in cellular events

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell cultures and transfection

293T, HeLa and MCF-7 cells were grown in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium with 10% FCS. The three clonal human malignant glioma cell lines, U-343 MG, U-343 MGa Cl2:6 (Cl2:6) and U-87MG, were grown in Eagle's minimum essential medium with 10% FCS. The neuroblastoma cell line SH-SY5Y was grown in DMEM/F-12 medium, the U2OS osteosarcoma cells in McCoy's 5A modified medium, and the HCT116 $p53^{+/+}$ and HCT116 $p53^{-/-}$ colon carcinoma cell lines in RPMI-1640 medium. All media contained 10% fetal bovine serum and 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin, and the cultured cells were maintained at 37 °C in 5% CO₂ at 95% humidity.

Generation of expression constructs

To study the genes' functions in cells, the cDNAs with the full-length ORF of MIEF1, MIEF2 and MTGM were amplified by PCR using the Human Fetal Brain BD[™] Marathon-Ready cDNA (Clontech) as template, and cloned into the pcDNA3.1/V5-His-TOPO vector (Invitrogen) to produce a C-terminally V5-His-tagged MIEF1, MIEF2 and MTGM. The generated plasmid were verified by sequencing. We also generated an N-terminally HA-tagged MIEF1 plasmid in pcDNA3.1 (HA-MIEF1). Deletion mutations of MIEF1 and MIEF2 and NCX3.2-EmGFP were constructed in the pcDNA3.1/V5-His-TOPO vector (Invitrogen) using standard PCR technique. Internal deletion mutants of MIEF1 and MIEF2 were constructed in the same expression plasmid using a previously described method (Ho, Hunt et al. 1989). All deletion constructs were verified by sequencing. Site directed mutagenesis of NCX3-N45D and NCX3-N67D was carried out using a protocol based on the QuikChange® Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (Stratagene) with the plasmid (pcDNA3.1-NCX3.2/V5-His).

Real-time PCR analysis

To monitor the normal tissue distribution of MIEF1, MIEF2, and MTGM expression, the Human Adult MTCTM Panel I and Human Fetal MTCTM Panel (Clontech) containing cDNAs from multiple tissues were used as templates for standard real-time PCR, and the results were normalized against β -actin.

Western blotting

Protein extracts were separated by electrophoresis and transferred to PVDF membranes (Millipore). After blocking with 10% nonfat dry milk in PBS, the membranes were incubated with primary antibodies and the peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (Amersham), and immunocomplexes were detected with an enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) kit (Amersham). Densitometric analysis for quantifying Western blots was performed using the ImageJ gel analysis software.

Indirect immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy

To investigate the protein subcellular localization, mitochondrial morphology, proteins colocalization and cell fusion assay, the cells were cultured on coverslips, washed with PBS, fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS, permeabilized with 0.5% Triton X-100 in PBS, incubated in blocking buffer with 2% BSA (bovine serum albumin) in PBS and subsequently with the primary antibodies and secondary antibodies conjugated with different fluorophores. After a final PBS wash, the coverslips were mounted with the Mounting Medium containing DAPI (Vector Laboratories). For mitochondrial staining, the MitoTracker Red CMXRos (500 nM, Molecular Probes) was added to cultures for 15 minutes before fixation. Specimens were examined by fluorescence microscopy system (Zeiss) or by SP5 confocal microscopy system (Leica).

Transmission electron microscopy

Transmission electron microscopy was used to visualize the ultrastructure of mitochondria. Transfected cells were prepared for the experiment. Series of sections were counterstained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate and analyzed in a Tecnai 12 (FEI) electron microscope.

Subcellular fractionation

Subcellular fractionation is a classic method to study the protein distribution in different cellular compartments. MIEF1 and MTGM have been identified in the MOM and the MIM respectively. The mitochondrial fraction was isolated as described (Parone, James et al. 2006). Cells were collected in ice-cold mitochondrial buffer (MB) (210 mM mannitol, 70 mM sucrose, 10 mM HEPES, 1 mM EDTA, pH 7.5) with protease inhibitors (Roche). For proteinase K digestion, mitochondrial pellets were suspended in mitochondrial buffer (MB) with 50 µg/ml proteinase K and incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature. For membrane protein analysis, mitochondrial pellets were resuspended in 100 µl of MB buffer, or MB buffer containing 0.1 M Na₂CO₃ (pH 11.5) and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. The insoluble membrane fractions were centrifuged at $16,000 \times g$ for 15 minutes, and the supernatants were precipitated with 10% (v/v) trichloroacetic acid.

In vivo protein-protein cross-linking and co-immunoprecipitation

Protein-protein cross-linking is required for the study of oligomerization. The cells were kept in PBS buffer containing 1% formaldehyde (FA) for 20 min at room temperature as described (Hajek, Chomyn et al. 2007). The crosslinking reaction was terminated by PBS containing 100 mM glycine. The crosslinked cells were dissolved in SDS-sample buffer and the whole cell extracts were analyzed by Western blotting.

To measure protein-protein interaction, co-immunoprecipitation experiments were carried out according to the method described (Hajek, Chomyn et al. 2007) with a slight modification. The captured immune complexes were dissolved in SDS-sample buffer and analyzed by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting.

PEG cell fusion assay

To visualize the MIEF1 function in mitochondrial fusion, PEG-mediated cell fusion experiments were performed as previously described (Liesa, Borda-d'Agua et al. 2008,

Kamp, Exner et al. 2010) with slight modifications. Cells were transiently transfected with either mito-GFP or mito-DsRed. After 24 h, cells carrying differently labeled mitochondria were mixed (1:1) and then the mixed cells were transfected with either MIEF1-V5 or empty vector. Cell fusion was induced by a treatment with polyethylene glycol (PEG) and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS. After immunofluorescence staining with anti V5-tag antibody (for MIEF1-V5 positive cells), polykaryons were analyzed by confocal microscopy using the Leica Colocalization Software. Mitochondrial fusion was evaluated as the percent of mito-GFP and mito-DsRed colocalization in mitochondria.

GTP-agarose pull-down assay

To study the effect of MIEF1 on Drp1 GTP-binding capability, GTP-binding assays were performed as described (De Palma, Falcone et al. 2010) with slight modifications. The proteins bound to the GTP-agarose beads were visualized by performing immunoblot analysis.

Bioinformatics

Serial Analysis of Gene Expression (SAGE) libraries (<u>www.cgap.nci.nih.gov</u>) were used for analysis of gene expression profiles. LOCtree (http://cubic.bioc.columbia.edu) and Lokero (http://www-bs.informatik.uni-tuebingen.de) were used for prediction of subcellular localization. The TMHMM was used for prediction of transmembrane regions. Multiple alignments were generated with the CLUSTALW (<u>http://npsa-pbil.ibcp.fr/</u>). SignalP3.0 (http://www.cbs.dtu.dk/services/SignalP-3.0/) and TargetP 1.1 (www.cbs.dtu.dk/services /TargetP/) were used for prediction of a mitochondrial targeting sequence.

BrdU incorporation

BrdU can be incorporated into the synthesized DNA during the S phase of the cell cycle. To uncover the expressed proteins' function in cell proliferation, cells were incubated with BrdU (20 μ M/ml) in medium for 4 hours before harvest, fixed in 1% formalin in PBS for 8 minutes, and followed by 1% formalin, 0.3% Triton X-100 in PBS for 18 hours at 4°C. BrdU immunolabeling was performed with anti-BrdU antibody and detected with secondary antibodies conjugated with fluorophore.

Cell cycle analysis by flow cytometry (FACS)

The cell cycle distribution was determined by FACS analysis of DNA content. Briefly, 293T cells were harvested at indicated times post-transfection, fixed in 70% ethanol and stained with DAPI. DNA content was analyzed using a BD LSR II flow cytometer.

Measurement of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in HeLa cells using Fura-2

To better understand the effect of NCX3 on the intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration, HeLa cells were cultured in 35 mm Petri dishes and transfected with plasmids. After 24 hours, cells were rinsed with Ca²⁺-free Krebs buffer and loaded with 5 μ M Fura-2/AM in 2 mL Ca²⁺ free Krebs buffer for 30 min at 37°C in the dark, then subjected to measurement of [Ca ²⁺]_i.

Live cell imaging

To study the dynamic subcellular distribution of NCX3 during the cell cycle, we performed live cell imaging with HeLa cells expressing the NCX3-EmGFP fusion protein. Leica TCS SP5 II confocal system (Leica) and INU2 incubation system for microscopes (TOKAI HIT) constituted the integrated live cell imaging system.

4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Mitochondrial dynamics is a highly organized process in keeping with normal cellular demands. Mitochondrial fusion and fission are two opposing processes for the maintenance of mitochondrial morphology. The balance between fusion and fission determines the outcome of mitochondrial morphology. Several large self-assembling GTPases, belonging to the DRP family, constitute the key players in mitochondrial dynamics. In fission, the function of Drp1 has been widely studied. However, the mechanisms of Drp1 recruitment from the cytosol to the mitochondrial surface are highly divergent between vertebrates and yeast (Zhao, Lendahl et al. 2013). This thesis has identified key, previously unknown genes involved in the regulation of mitochondrial morphology and in interplay with DRPs in mammals.

4.1 PAPER I

Human MIEF1 recruits Drp1 to mitochondrial outer membranes and promotes mitochondrial fusion rather than fission

In this paper, we firstly searched for proteins potentially involved in controlling mitochondrial morphology by querying the LIFEdb functional genomics resource which provides a lot of information about the proteins' subcellular localization (Simpson, Wellenreuther et al. 2000). We found a vertebrate-specific nuclear gene SMCR7L, which encodes a mitochondrial protein that we functionally characterized and named mitochondrial elongation factor 1 (MIEF1), as overexpression of the protein in cells induced extensive mitochondrial elongation. MIEF1 contains 463 amino acids and has an N-terminal TM domain. Endogenous MIEF1, ~ 52 kDa, is expressed relatively high in human heart, skeletal muscle, pancreas and kidney. By isolation of mitochondrial fractions from 293T cells overexpressing MIEF1 and different treatments of the fractions, we described that MIEF1 is anchored in the mitochondrial outer membrane with its C-terminus exposed in the cytoplasm. Functionally, MIEF1 could affect the cellular sensitivity to apoptotic stimuli and the autophagic activity.

MIEF1 induces mitochondrial fusion by interacting with Drp1 and inhibiting Drp1 activity

The recruitment of Drp1 to the mitochondrial surface was still a mystery, although Mff and hFis1 had been identified as Drp1 receptors on the MOM. MIEF1, however, was found to be a new receptor or adaptor able to aggregate Drp1 on mitochondria.

Overexpression of MIEF1 recruited the bulk of endogenous Drp1 from the cytoplasm to the mitochondria where Drp1 was colocalized with MIEF1. As a result, in the isolated mitochondrial fractions the Drp1 level increased remarkably, concomitant with a reduction of the Drp1 level in the cytosolic fraction. Co-IP confirmed that ectopically expressed MIEF1 could co-precipitate with Drp1 in 293T cells. In addition, we found that Mff, hFis1 and Mfn2 were not required for the MIEF1-induced recruitment of Drp1 to mitochondria. Drp1^{K38A}, a Drp1 GTPase deficient mutant, shows cytosolic distribution. It could still be co-precipitated by MIEF1 and was recruited to the mitochondrial surface when coexpressed with MIEF1. Overexpression of MIEF1 affected neither Drp1 oliogmerization nor Drp1 phosphorylation at

Ser637, whereas the detection of an interaction between MIEF1 and phosphomimetic Drp1-Ser637 mutants allowed us to conclude that the MIEF1-Drp1 interaction did not depend on the phosphorylation status of Ser637. Taken together, our data showed that the MIEF1mediated recruitment of Drp1 to mitochondria is an active process that is independent of Mff, hFis1, Mfn2, Drp1 GTPase activity, and Drp1 phosphorylation status.

Intriguingly, just like overexpression of wildtype MIEF1, overexpression of an engineered deletion mutant (MIEF1^{Δ 1-48}), lacking the TM domain and therefore distributed in the cytoplasm, could also induce a substantial tubular cluster phenotype of mitochondria, which is similar to phenotypes induced by blocking Drp1-dependent fission pathways, e.g. by expression of the Drp1^{K38A} mutant or by knockdown of Drp1 or Mff. Furthermore, knockdown of Drp1 could not perturb this mitochondrial morphology promoted by MIEF1 and MIEF1^{Δ 1-48} expression. We also identified that overexpression of MIEF1 attenuated Drp1's GTP-binding activity. Together, the findings confirmed that Drp1 was inhibited by MIEF1, independently of MIEF1's mitochondrial localization.

Engineered deletion mutants of MIEF1 facilitated our study of the interaction between Drp1 and MIEF1. The MIEF1 mutant with deletion of amino-acid residues 160-169 (MIEF1^{Δ 160-169}) lost Drp1-binding ability, and overexpression of MIEF1^{Δ 160-169} did not affect the mitochondrial morphology. These data indicated that the MIEF1-Drp1 interaction is required for sequestering Drp1 by MIEF1 and impairment of mitochondrial fission.

In sum, MIEF1 plays a crucial role in the recruitment of Drp1 to mitochondria and inhibition of Drp1-induced mitochondrial fission. Moreover, the data provided new information on how Drp1 shuttles from the cytosol to mitochondria, subsequently regulated by the cofactors in mitochondrial dynamics.

hFis1 interacts with MIEF1 and partially reverses MIEF1 induced fusion

By using engineered MIEF1 deletion mutants, and co-immunoprecipitations, we elaborated that the interaction between MIEF1 and hFis1 did not require Drp1 or MIEF1 localization on mitochondria. Conversely, hFis1 was not required for the MIEF1-Drp1 interaction. With non-denaturing (native blue) gel electrophoresis, it was confirmed that MIEF1-Drp1 and MIEF1-hFis1 formed distinct protein complexes. This suggested that MIEF1's interaction with Drp1 was independent of MIEF1's interaction with hFis1. The MIEF1-hFis1 interaction seemed much stronger than the hFis-Drp1 interaction. It is consistent with the hypothesis that MIEF1 is a potential receptor or adaptor that can increase the pool of Drp1 on mitochondria. However co-expression of hFis1 with MIEF1 could partially revert the MIEF1 induced mitochondrial fusion effect, indicating that there is a balance between the two types of MIEF1 containing protein complexes.

MIEF1 promoted mitochondrial fusion is to some extent independent of Mfn2

When we had confirmed that MIEF1 is a mitochondrial protein, we checked to what extent MIEF1 affected mitochondrial morphology. Overexpression of MIEF1 resulted in mitochondrial elongation compared to the non-transfected cells as well as compared to the cells transfected with empty vector. $\sim 90\%$ of the MIEF1 positive cells displayed extensive

perinuclear distribution of mitochondrial tubular clusters associated with extremely long tubules or compact clusters. The latter phenotype became more marked with an increased MIEF1 expression level.

The transmission electron microscopy results confirmed these findings. Both tubular networks and compact clusters were observed. Even more, reconstruction images from serial ultrathin sections displayed extremely long mitochondria and in the compact clusters the fusion process could have been complemented by membrane fusions between two tethering mitochondria. In addition, knockdown of endogenous MIEF1 with siRNAs switched the balance to mitochondrial fission and dramatically increased the number of cells with divided mitochondria. In the polyethylene glycol (PEG) induced *in vivo* cell fusion assay (Liesa, Borda-d'Agua et al. 2008, Kamp, Exner et al. 2010), mito-GFP and mito-DsRED were transfected into two sets of 293T cells, respectively. The two sets of cells were co-cultured under MIEF1 overexpression or empty vector conditions, and the co-cultures were subsequently treated with PEG inducing cell fusion. The mitochondrial fusion incidence doubled in MIEF1 expressing cells compared to the control group.

It has been reported that Mfns can oligomerize, facilitating mitochondrial elongation. We investigated if MIEF1 was capable of oligomerization. By chemical crosslinking and coimmunoprecipitation (co-IP), self-association (dimerization) of MIEF1 was confirmed. By using engineered MIEF1 deletion mutants, the region from residues 49 to 195 was found to be required for dimer formation. In addition, overexpression of MIEF1 induced unique mitochondrial compact clusters which were likely related to MIEF1 oligomerization. MIEF1 appeared as dots at the tips of two adjacent mitochondrial heads in low level MIEF1 expressing cells. As the fusion evolved, MIEF1 became evenly distributed in the MOM.

The MIEF1-mediated mitochondrial elongation was different from that induced by Mfn2. It is conceivable that the two proteins function in different pathways. Knockdown of Mfn2 by siRNAs resulted in mitochondrial fragmentation, whilst overexpression of MIEF1 could rescue Mfn2 knockdown-induced fission, concomitantly increasing fusion. This suggests that Mfn2 is dispensable for the MIEF1-induced fusion. Additionally, knockdown of endogenous MIEF1 by siRNAs switched the balance to fission and dramatically increased the number of cells with divided mitochondria. Those results indicated that MIEF1 has the ability to enhance mitochondrial apposition by oligomerization so as to facilitate fusion.

Drp1, however, does not affect the mitochondrial morphology when overexpressed in cells (Smirnova, Shurland et al. 1998). Coexpression of MIEF1 and Drp1 could reverse the MIEF1 induced fusion phenotype to a limited extent. Mitochondrial fragmentation was detectable in a small portion of cells with ectopic expression of both MIEF1 and Drp1. This indicated that an increased ratio of Drp1 to MIEF1 to a moderate level could induce fission. More importantly, it hinted the potential role of MIEF1 in mitochondrial fission.

Main findings:

- MIEF1 has a dual role in inhibiting mitochondrial fission and promoting fusion
- MIEF1 interacts with and recruits Drp1 to the mitochondrial surface but inhibits Drp1 activity, resulting in mitochondrial fusion.

- MIEF1-mediated recruitment of Drp1 to mitochondria is independent of Mff, hFis1, Mfn2, Drp1 GTPase activity, and Drp1 phosphorylation status.
- MIEF1 interacts with hFis1 and overexpression of hFis1 attenuates MIEF1-mediated fusion.
- MIEF1 may also actively promote mitochondrial fusion in a way that does not require Mfn2.

4.2 PAPER II

The mitochondrial elongation factors MIEF1 and MIEF2 exert partially distinct functions in mitochondrial dynamics

MIEF2 (also named Mid49) is a paralog of MIEF1, which is located on chromosome 17 in human. Recently, Palmer and co-workers reported that double knockdown of MIEF1 and MIEF2 led to mitochondrial fusion in COS7 cells (Palmer, Osellame et al. 2011), whereas in our previous paper, we suggested that knockdown of MIEF1 by siRNA resulted in mitochondrial fragmentation in HeLa cells (Zhao, Liu et al. 2011). Thus, the function of MIEFs in mitochondrial dynamics was controversial. In paper II we cloned and expressed the MIEF2 cDNA and focused on the functional similarities and divergences between MIEF1 and MIEF2.

Functional similarities between MIEF1 and MIEF2

By protein sequence homology analysis, we found that MIEF1 and MIEF2 share 45% amino acid identity. Like MIEF1, MIEF2 has a predicted N-terminal TM domain from amino acid residue 23 to 43 and the C-terminus faces the cytosol. MIEF2 is also a vertebrate-specific protein. In line with MIEF1, overexpression of MIEF2 leads to mitochondrial fusion. MIEF1mediated fusion does not require the localization of MIEF1 to mitochondria (Zhao, Liu et al. 2011). To perform this investigation in MIEF2, a TM deletion mutant, MIEF2 $^{\Delta 1-49}$, was generated. It was localized in the cytoplasm similar to MIEF1 $^{\Delta 1-48}$. Overexpression of MIEF2 $^{\Delta 1-49}$ sequestered Drp1 in the cytosol and promoted a mitochondrial tubular cluster phenotype, which were the same effects as seen by expressing MIEF1 $^{\Delta 1-48}$. By co-IP, both MIEF1 $^{\Delta 1-48}$ and MIEF2 $^{\Delta 1-49}$ could interact with Drp1 but the binding efficiency was lower than with the wild-type MIEF1 and MIEF2 proteins. Overexpression of either MIEF1 or MIEF2 increased the pool of Drp1 foci on mitochondria. Co-IP indicated that MIEF2, like MIEF1, was capable of interacting with both hFis1 and Drp1. With increased expression levels of hFis1, interactions between Drp1 and either MIEF1 or MIEF2 declined, which indicated that hFis1 could affect the Drp1-MIEF1/MIEF2 interactions. Taken together, MIEF1 and MIEF2 possess certain common characteristics in controlling mitochondrial fission and fusion. If either protein were lost, these redundant functions could be compensated for mutually in the regulation of mitochondrial dynamics.

Functional divergences between MIEF1 and MIEF2

Nevertheless, there are still some dissimilarities between MIEF1 and MIEF2. We monitored the differential expression levels of MIEF1 and MIEF2 in different cell lines, including a variety of tumor cell lines. MIEF2 was more ubiquitously expressed relative to MIEF1.

Screening of MIEF1 and MIEF2 mRNA by qPCR indicated that both of them are widely expressed in different human fetal and adult tissues. Relatively, MIEF1 mRNA was more abundant in human fetal tissues and was high in fetal skeletal muscle, brain, kidney, liver and heart, whereas MIEF1 mRNA was decreased in those tissues in the adult. On the other hand MIEF2 mRNA was higher in human adult tissues, especially in adult skeletal muscle and heart. This hints that MIEF1 and MIEF2 function at distinct stages of development. When it came to their functions in mitochondrial dynamics, overexpression of either MIEF1 or MIEF2 resulted in the mitochondrial fusion phenotypes with either tubular or compact cluster morphologies in a dose-dependent manner. By increasing the dose of either MIEF1 or MIEF2 expression, the phenotype with compact clusters became more severe. Statistical analysis unveiled that the MIEF2-induced fusion phenotype was much stronger than that induced by MIEF1. Consistently, co-expression of hFis1 and MIEF1 indicated that hFis1 could negatively modulate MIEF1 induced fusion and decreased the percentage of cells with the fusion phenotype from 90% to 48%, while co-expression of hFis1 and MIEF2 showed that hFis1 had little effect on MIEF2-induced fusion. When substituting Mff for hFis1, Mff could reverse MIEF1-induced fusion and significantly increased the cells with fragmented and aggregated mitochondria to 79%. In contrast, Mff could only rescue the MIEF2-induced fusion slightly. Only 7.3% of the cell co-expressing MIEF2 and Mff exhibited mitochondrial fragmentation. Taken together, MIEF2 is more potent to induce mitochondrial fusion than MIEF1.

In paper I we demonstrated that MIEF1 could form both dimers and higher order oligomers (Zhao, Liu et al. 2011). In this paper, we narrowed down the region required for MIEF1 dimerization to amino acid residues 109 to 154. By chemical cross-linking and western blot, we found that MIEF2 mostly formed higher order oligomers instead of the dimers that were mainly seen with MIEF1. This finding is a plausible reason why MIEF2 possesses a higher fusion-promoting capability than MIEF1. By engineered MIEF2 deletion mutants, we defined the N-terminus, the first 49 amino acid residues, as required for MIEF2 oligomerization. This is different from the region defined in MIEF1.

In addition, we discovered that dimerization of MIEF1 is not necessary for binding Drp1 and recruiting Drp1 to mitochondria. Expression of the MIEF1^{Δ 109-154}, oligomerization-deficient mutant, could increase the pool of Drp1 foci at the mitochondrial surface and induce a mitochondrial fusion phenotype which was slightly weaker than the phenotype induced by wildtype MIEF1 expression. Through co-IP, MIEF1 and MIEF1^{Δ 109-154} displayed similar Drp1 binding efficiency. We also found that MIEF1 and MIEF2 can form heterodimers.

Main findings:

- Both MIEF1 and MIEF2 recruit Drp1 to mitochondria and cause mitochondrial fusion.
- MIEF2 has the same capacity as MIEF1 to interact with Drp1 and hFis1.
- MIEF1 and MIEF2 are differentially expressed in human tissues during development and in the adult.
- MIEF2 exerts a stronger fusion effect than MIEF1.
- MIEF2 forms higher order oligomers, while MIEF1 largely presents as dimers.

- MIEF2 oligomerization is dependent on the first 49 amino acid residues, while MIEF1 dimerization is dependent on the region from amino acid residues 109 to 154.
- Dimerization of MIEF1 is not required for its mitochondrial localization and interaction with Drp1.

4.3 PAPER III

The novel conserved mitochondrial inner-membrane protein MTGM regulates mitochondrial morphology and cell proliferation

In mammals, the mitochondrial fission machinery is mainly constituted by Drp1, MIEFs, Mff, hFis and the post-translational modifications on Drp1. Those fission processing events occur in the MOM. In this paper, we characterized a unique MIM protein which we named mitochondrial targeting GxxxG motif (MTGM) protein and found to be involved in mitochondrial fission.

Using SAGE libraries, we compared the gene expression patterns between human brain tumors and the corresponding normal tissues. We discovered a gene ubiquitously expressed in human adult tissues and analyzed the gene product. The gene was designated MTGM (also known as C20orf52 and Romo1).

By RACE-PCR and bioinformatics analysis, we found that the MTGM gene possesses three exons and it generates at least three transcript variants in the human brain via alternative splicing, but all the splice variants encode the same MTGM protein with 79 amino acids and a predicted molecular mass of 8.2 kDa. The protein contains a TM domain positioned from amino acid residue 22 to 44. In addition, MTGM is highly conserved from yeast to human and the homologs have a tetrad of the GxxxG motif for protein-protein interactions within the TM region that indicates MTGM is crucial for life during evolution and cellular events. By RT-PCR analysis, on the basis of MTGM expression in normal adult brain, we found that MTGM is upregulated in two human clonal glioma cell lines and one neuroblastoma cell line and in several patient samples of medulloblastoma and astrocytoma.

Overexpression of MTGM in cultured cells led to punctuated foci in the cytoplasm of transfected cells analyzed by immunofluorescence microscopy and the foci co-localized with mitochondria stained with MitoTracker. Endogenous MTGM was detected with an MTGM polyclonal antibody and also those foci co-localized with mitochondria. Moreover, we isolated the mitochondrial fraction from cells overexpressing MTGM and western blotting revealed that MTGM accumulated in the mitochondrial fraction. Accordingly, MTGM is a mitochondrial targeting protein. Isolation of the mitochondrial fraction from these cells allowed us to further study the nature of MTGM in mitochondria. By treatment of the mitochondrial fraction with different reagents, we could determine that MTGM is an integral mitochondrial inner-membrane protein.

Intriguingly, we found that overexpression of MTGM induced mitochondrial fission, whilst knockdown of MTGM resulted in interconnection of mitochondria which was confirmed with two pairs of MTGM siRNAs in both 293T and HeLa cell lines. These findings indicated that MTGM is involved in the regulation of mitochondrial morphology. It is known that

mitochondrial fission is involved in the mitochondrial quality control, impedes cell proliferation, sensitizes the cells to apoptosis, and facilitates the cells to remove the dysfunctional mitochondria by mitophagy.

Therefore we investigated if MTGM affects those functions. Firstly, we discovered that MTGM affects cell proliferation. By BrdU incorporation assay and immunofluorescence staining, we found that overexpression of MTGM dramatically decreased the cells incorporation of BrdU. The result indicated that MTGM severely impairs DNA synthesis, and it was revealed there were almost no MTGM positive cells in mitosis, identified by Ki67 and DAPI staining. Flow cytometry analysis of DNA content was performed by two different methods. One was to compare the MTGM expressing group with a GFP expressing control group, the other was to compare two subgroups, MTGM positive and negative, within the same population of cells transfected with MTGM. The results confirmed that overexpression of MTGM expression. Conversely, knockdown of MTGM led to robust cell proliferation and significantly promoted the cells incorporation of BrdU compared to cells treated with negative control siRNA. The level of cyclin D1 and cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 declined and cyclin B1 slightly increased in MTGM depleted cells.

Secondly, we analysed the connections between MTGM protein and the release of proapoptotic factors from mitochondria. By immunofluorescence microscopy, we found that cytochrome c remained in mitochondria when MTGM was ectopically expressed in 293T cells, while more than 50% of the cells expressing MTGM lost the pool of Smac/Diablo foci in mitochondria. Furthermore, western blotting indicated that the level of Smac in the mitochondrial fraction decreased, while it was increased in the cytosol of MTGM expressing cells. As for cytochrome c, it was kept in the mitochondrial fraction and the level in the cytosol increased slightly when expressing MTGM in 293T cells.

Intriguingly, a time course study of MTGM-induced fission and release of Smac revealed that overexpression of MTGM activated extensive mitochondrial division at 8 hours post-transfection, at which time only about 5% of the cells with mitochondrial fragmentation released Smac into the cytosol. At 24 hours post-transfection, there was a higher number of cells with Smac release. It was concluded that MTGM-induced mitochondrial fission occurred ahead of Smac release.

Drp1 is the core player in the mitochondrial fission machinery. It prompted us to unveil the connection between Drp1 and MTGM. Co-expression of MTGM and Drp1 did not affect the MTGM-induced fission. Co-expression of MTGM and Drp1^{K38A} inactive mutant substantially reversed the MTGM-induced mitochondrial fission. About 82% of the transfected cells appeared to have an interconnected tubular network of mitochondria. Moreover, MTGM-mediated Smac release was severely attenuated at the same time. Those data indicated that both MTGM-induced mitochondrial fission and Smac/Diablo release occurred in a Drp1 dependent manner.

In addition, we analyzed caspase 3, polyADP-ribose polymerase (PARP), and LC3B in cells overexpressing MTGM. There were no obvious changes in those apoptotic and autophagy

indicators, implying that overexpression of MTGM neither promoted apoptosis nor autophagy.

On the other hand, depletion of MTGM by siRNAs protected PARP from cleavage in staurosporine (STS) induced apoptosis. This indicated that mitochondrial fusion resulting from knockdown of MTGM can repress caspase 3 activity and promote resistance to apoptotic stimuli. As well, this result was confirmed by flow cytometry analysis with M30 CytoDeath antibody staining. The M30-positive cells were about 7.6% in the cell cultures treated with MTGM siRNA relative to 17.5% in the cultures treated with control siRNA when exposed to STS induced apoptotic stimuli.

Taken together, MTGM is a unique integral mitochondrial inner membrane protein cooperating with Drp1 to regulate mitochondrial dynamics and cell proliferation. MTGM strongly promotes mitochondrial fission and is unique among MIM proteins in this respect.

Main findings:

- MTGM is a novel integral mitochondrial inner-membrane protein with a tetrad of the GxxxG motif that is highly conserved from yeast to human.
- MTGM is highly expressed in human brain tumors.
- Overexpression of MTGM results in mitochondrial fission and release of Smac/Diablo from mitochondria to the cytosol in a Drp1-dependent manner.
- Overexpression of MTGM inhibits cell proliferation and sequesters the cells in S phase.
- Knockdown of MTGM induces mitochondrial fusion and promotes cell proliferation and resistance to apoptosis.

4.4 PAPER IV

*Glycosylation determines sodium-calcium exchanger 3 subcellular distribution during cell cycle; effects on ER Ca*²⁺ *handling*

Sodium-calcium exchanger (NCX), as a plasma membrane antiporter, plays an important role in the maintenance of intracellular Ca^{2+} homeostasis. Although NCXs have been extensively studied in mammals, the subcellular localization of different NCXs is still undetermined besides the fact that they are destined to be plasma membrane proteins. In this study, we tested the hypothesis that the subcellular localization of the NCX3 protein varies with the cell cycle in mammalian cells.

To dissect the biological functions of human NCX3, we overexpressed NCX3 in HEK 293T cells. By immunofluorescence microscopy, we found that two main phenotypes of NCX3 subcellular localization emerged, one localized to the plasma membrane and another associated with the ER and the nuclear envelope, which were termed NCX3-PM and NCX3-ER phenotypes respectively. By performing time-lapse ratiometric Ca²⁺ imaging in HeLa cells, we found that overexpression of NCX3 attenuated the ER-Ca²⁺ release capacity.

Using BrdU incorporation assay, we discovered that only 5.1% BrdU positive cells appeared among cells with NCX3-ER localization, while 62% among cells with NCX3-PM localization, and 44.7% in control cell cultures. By immunofluorescence staining, we found that the NCX3-ER phenotype was present mainly in interphase cells, whilst the NCX3-PM phenotype was present in mitotic cells. Moreover, NCX3-PM is the dominant phenotype in mitotic cells. Upon these findings, we concluded that the NCX3-ER phenotype is present in interphase cells that do not actively synthesize DNA, while the NCX3-PM phenotype exists in cells undergoing DNA synthesis and mitosis. To visualize how the NCX3 movements varied with the cell cycle phases, we constructed an NCX3 recombinant with green fluorescent protein (GFP) and performed live cell imaging of cells transfected with NCX3-GFP. In cells approaching mitosis, NCX3 accumulated in the plasma membrane gradually. When cells had entered mitosis, NCX3 was mostly located in the plasma membrane, i.e. the cells displayed the NCX3-PM phenotype. During telophase, NCX3 maintained the NCX3-PM phenotype and when reaching cytokinesis, the phenotype changed moderately from NCX3-PM to NCX3-ER. In the two daughter cells, NCX3-ER was the predominant phenotype. Taken together, the regulation of NCX3 subcellular localization is a dynamic process dependent on the cell cycle phases and the NCX3-ER phenotype cells were partially delayed in their entering into S phase and mitosis.

Intriguingly, by studying the biochemical properties of NCX3, we discovered that NCX3's subcellular localization potentially was related to N-glycosylation. Bioinformatics analysis revealed predicted glycosylation sites at residue N45 and N67 of NCX3. We constructed two potentially glycosylation deficient mutants, named NCX3 N45D and NCX3 N67D. The residue N45 of NCX3 was found to affect NCX3 subcellular localization when analyzed by immunoblotting and immunofluorescence microscopy. NCX3 N45D was restrained in the cytosol (NCX3-ER phenotype) and less NCX3 N45D foci could be detected in the plasma membrane. This indicated that *N*-glycosylation of asparagine residue 45 is required for the distribution of NCX3 to the plasma membrane. In addition, overexpression of NCX3 N45D, like NCX3 wild type, could largely attenuate the Ca²⁺ release from the ER. This hints that restraining NCX3 in the ER facilitates NCX3 actively pumping Ca²⁺ from the cytosol into the ER. Using flow cytometry, we found that overexpression of the NCX3-N45D mutant significantly increased the number of cells in G1/G0 phase and decreased the number of cells in S phase, which was comparable with overexpression of NCX3 wild type. The result was consistent with the above findings.

In summary, NCX3's distribution within the cell is a dynamic process associated with the cell cycle phases, and requires the dynamic regulation of post-translational N-glycosylation. Forced expression of a protein with the NCX3-ER phenotype can delay the cells entering into S phase, subsequently cells accumulate in the G1/G0 phase.

Main findings:

- Normally, NCX3 exists both in the plasma membrane and in the ER.
- The distribution of NCX3 is a dynamic process associtated with the cell cycle phases.
- Forced localization of NCX3 in the ER delays the cells entering into S phase, and consequently cells accumulate in the G1/G0 phase.

• N-glycosylaton at residue N45 of NCX3 is required for targeting the protein to the plasma membrane.

5 CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES

Along with hFis1 and Mff, MIEF1 and MIEF2 are the latest characterized MOM proteins and these proteins play a pivotal role by interacting with and recruiting Drp1 to mitochondria in mammals. More importantly, MIEF1 functions differently from hFis1 and Mff. By interaction with Drp1, MIEF1 inhibits Drp1's activity in mitochondrial fission and results in a mitochondrial fusion phenotype. On the other hand, MIEF1 promotes fusion in an Mfn2 independent manner, but the fusion effect is modulated by hFis1 modestly. Paper i was highlighted by Schuldt in Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology (Schuldt 2011), and it was emphasized that MIEF1 seemed to provide a means of regulating mitochondrial dynamics that is unique to vertebrates. In paper ii, we dissected the similarities and differences between MIEF1 and MIEF2 on basis of their functions in mitochondrial dynamics. A better understanding of the functions of MIEF1 and MIEF2 facilitates future studies on how the two proteins coordinate their actions with other factors in recruiting Drp1, modulating Drp1 activity, and regulating mitochondrial dynamics. In paper iii, we presented the first report of MTGM regulating mitochondrial dynamics. MTGM is still the only identified integral MIM protein which regulates mitochondrial fission in a Drp1 dependent manner. More recently, MTGM-mediated ROS production has been studied in tumors by others (Shin, Chung et al. 2013, Kim, Kim et al. 2014, Yu, Song et al. 2014). Since MTGM is also involved in the regulation of mitochondrial dynamics, it is a potential factor to bridge mitochondrial dynamics, ROS production and cancer, aspects to be addressed in future studies. Taken together, in this thesis, three novel mitochondrial membrane proteins were introduced. All these proteins constitute main components of mitochondrial dynamics machinery and the discoveries shed new light on the mechanisms of mitochondrial dynamics in human.

In human, hFis1, Mff and MIEFs are regarded as mitochondrial receptors which recruit Drp1 to mitochondria and regulate mitochondrial fission. Why are there so many Drp1 receptors on mitochondria and how do they work together? Do they possess redundant functions or work with Drp1 hierarchically? Are they activated by different physiological events and signalling pathways in cells? Those questions open a large and fascinating field of research. We believe that the identification and functional characterization of the human specific proteins is a prerequisite for the proper understanding of the roles of mitochondrial dynamics in human diseases.

6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere thanks to all the people who have given me a lot of help and support for my study and life on the long journey of pursuing my PhD degree. Just because of you, I had a pleasing and exciting experience of my life in Sweden. In particular, I am eager to convey my thanks to the following people:

First of all and most importantly, I really appreciate my main supervisor, **Monica Nistér**, for taking me as her PhD student and bringing me into the splendid world of science. Thank you for your constant support and encouragement both on work and in my life, for your wide and deep knowledge in medical science, and for your belief in me all the time.

Jian Zhao, my co-supervisor, for generously sharing your knowledge, experience and brilliant ideas in science. Your supervision kept me motivated and focused. It is fair to say that without your help I would not have been able to complete my PhD training smoothly.

Urban Lendahl, the crucial collaborator, for your generous help, encouragement and ideas on our mitochondrial dynamics projects, especially when the manuscripts were under revision. It is my great honor to work with you.

Per Uhlén and **Cristián Ibarra**, for helping me to struggle with Ca²⁺ measurement with adequate patience.

All my past and present colleagues in the Nistér group: Christer, Inti, Juan, Ulrika, Sanna, Xiaobing, Inga, Mingqi, Rona, Peng, Chunde, Yuanjun, Anna, Toota, Mikael, Karl, Kaveh, Salah, Rong, Chenfei, Xinming, Liwei, Min, Susanne, Johanna, Teresita, James, Elisa, Daniel, Joseph, Shiva and Jakob for valuable discussions during group meeting and sharing the good mood and funny experience at FIKA time. We are Nistér family members forever.

All my friends and colleagues at the department of Oncology Pathology, Leonard, Zhaoxu, Xiaolei, Yingbo, Qiang, Zhiwei, Na, Ming, Hong, Lidi, Qiongzi, Jinfeng, Dudi, Iulian, Yujuan, Yuanyuan, Ran, Xianli, Chao, and Xiaonan. Thanks for sharing your knowledge and experience with me and having great fun during lunch time.

All my brilliant friends outside of Karolinska Institutet, Zhenzhong, Yu Xiang, Xingang, Yingying, Hua, Xu, Qian, Lu, Wenbin, Yiping, Hailong,

Jian and **Shao-Bo**, maybe I should not say thanks to you. Only thanks could not express my gratitude for your kindness and help in my life. We are more than friends.

Yin Hu and **Huajun Sun**, I appreciate you very much. You saved me from being homeless at that moment. It is unforgettable.

Mingyu An and **Yin Hong**, thank you for treating me as a little brother and all your kindness.

Jin and **Huaqing**, I am so lucky to know you, neighbor with you and be friends with you. We have good idea for the future and just do it.

Xiaofeng and Xin, Xiao and Jianguang, you are not in Stockholm and I will miss you.

Peng, it is so great to be colleague and friend with you. It is happy to talk with you because of your honest and frank personality. More importantly, we are foodies.

Jian Zhou, my brother, I have never thought we could meet in Sweden since we graduated from college. Is it a miracle or our destiny? Thank you for coming to Sweden.

To my family, I would like to express my true feelings in Chinese that is understandable for them.

My parents, Zhicheng Liu and Cailing Li,

爸妈,在你们的关爱中我不断地成长,您们辛苦了。谢谢爸妈的包容和理解,你们无 私的爱和无条件的奉献是我人生中不断前行的动力,我爱你们!

My wife, Huiyuan Zheng

慧渊,与你相识,相知,相爱并一同走过了十八个春秋。无论顺境逆境你都一如既往的支持体贴,感谢生命中有你陪伴,感谢一路上有你。执子之手与子偕老,我爱你!

My son, Rui Liu

刘蕤, 我亲爱的儿子, 感谢你在 2013 年冬天的到来。你把爸爸带入了一个全新的世界, 让爸爸体会到什么是真正的无私的爱, 什么是责任。愿你健康成长, 爸爸永远爱你!

My parents-in-law, Hanquan Zheng and Qiuting Chen

爸妈,感谢您们的支持与理解,谢谢!

7 REFERENCES

Akita, M., M. Suzuki-Karasaki, K. Fujiwara, C. Nakagawa, M. Soma, Y. Yoshida, T. Ochiai, Y. Tokuhashi and Y. Suzuki-Karasaki (2014). "Mitochondrial division inhibitor-1 induces mitochondrial hyperfusion and sensitizes human cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis." Int J Oncol.

Alberts, B. (2014). Essential cell biology. New York, NY, Garland Science.

Alexander, C., M. Votruba, U. E. Pesch, D. L. Thiselton, S. Mayer, A. Moore, M. Rodriguez, U. Kellner, B. Leo-Kottler, G. Auburger, S. S. Bhattacharya and B. Wissinger (2000). "OPA1, encoding a dynamin-related GTPase, is mutated in autosomal dominant optic atrophy linked to chromosome 3q28." <u>Nat Genet</u> **26**(2): 211-215.

Amati-Bonneau, P., D. Milea, D. Bonneau, A. Chevrollier, M. Ferre, V. Guillet, N. Gueguen, D. Loiseau, M. A. de Crescenzo, C. Verny, V. Procaccio, G. Lenaers and P. Reynier (2009). "OPA1-associated disorders: phenotypes and pathophysiology." <u>Int J Biochem Cell Biol</u> **41**(10): 1855-1865.

Anand, R., T. Wai, M. J. Baker, N. Kladt, A. C. Schauss, E. Rugarli and T. Langer (2014). "The i-AAA protease YME1L and OMA1 cleave OPA1 to balance mitochondrial fusion and fission." J Cell Biol **204**(6): 919-929.

Anderson, S., A. T. Bankier, B. G. Barrell, M. H. de Bruijn, A. R. Coulson, J. Drouin, I. C. Eperon, D. P. Nierlich, B. A. Roe, F. Sanger, P. H. Schreier, A. J. Smith, R. Staden and I. G. Young (1981). "Sequence and organization of the human mitochondrial genome." <u>Nature</u> **290**(5806): 457-465.

Archer, S. L. (2013). "Mitochondrial dynamics--mitochondrial fission and fusion in human diseases." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **369**(23): 2236-2251.

Ashrafian, H., L. Docherty, V. Leo, C. Towlson, M. Neilan, V. Steeples, C. A. Lygate, T. Hough, S. Townsend, D. Williams, S. Wells, D. Norris, S. Glyn-Jones, J. Land, I. Barbaric, Z. Lalanne, P. Denny, D. Szumska, S. Bhattacharya, J. L. Griffin, I. Hargreaves, N. Fernandez-Fuentes, M. Cheeseman, H. Watkins and T. N. Dear (2010). "A mutation in the mitochondrial fission gene Dnm11 leads to cardiomyopathy." <u>PLoS Genet</u> **6**(6): e1001000.

Bach, D., S. Pich, F. X. Soriano, N. Vega, B. Baumgartner, J. Oriola, J. R. Daugaard, J. Lloberas, M. Camps, J. R. Zierath, R. Rabasa-Lhoret, H. Wallberg-Henriksson, M. Laville, M. Palacin, H. Vidal, F. Rivera, M. Brand and A. Zorzano (2003). "Mitofusin-2 determines mitochondrial network architecture and mitochondrial metabolism. A novel regulatory mechanism altered in obesity." J Biol Chem 278(19): 17190-17197.

Baughman, J. M., F. Perocchi, H. S. Girgis, M. Plovanich, C. A. Belcher-Timme, Y. Sancak, X. R. Bao, L. Strittmatter, O. Goldberger, R. L. Bogorad, V. Koteliansky and V. K. Mootha (2011). "Integrative genomics identifies MCU as an essential component of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter." <u>Nature</u> **476**(7360): 341-345.

Baxter, R. V., K. Ben Othmane, J. M. Rochelle, J. E. Stajich, C. Hulette, S. Dew-Knight, F. Hentati, M. Ben Hamida, S. Bel, J. E. Stenger, J. R. Gilbert, M. A. Pericak-Vance and J. M. Vance (2002). "Ganglioside-induced differentiation-associated protein-1 is mutant in Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease type 4A/8q21." <u>Nat Genet</u> **30**(1): 21-22.

Benard, G. and M. Karbowski (2009). "Mitochondrial fusion and division: Regulation and role in cell viability." <u>Semin Cell Dev Biol</u> **20**(3): 365-374.

Bereiter-Hahn, J. and M. Voth (1994). "Dynamics of mitochondria in living cells: shape changes, dislocations, fusion, and fission of mitochondria." <u>Microsc Res Tech</u> **27**(3): 198-219.

Bhattacharya, D. and J. Gross (2009). "Mitochondrial and plastid evolution in eukaryotes: an outsiders' perspective." <u>Nature Reviews Genetics</u> **10**(9): 657-657.

Bleazard, W., J. M. McCaffery, E. J. King, S. Bale, A. Mozdy, Q. Tieu, J. Nunnari and J. M. Shaw (1999). "The dynamin-related GTPase Dnm1 regulates mitochondrial fission in yeast." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> 1(5): 298-304.

Bonnet, S., S. L. Archer, J. Allalunis-Turner, A. Haromy, C. Beaulieu, R. Thompson, C. T. Lee, G. D. Lopaschuk, L. Puttagunta, S. Bonnet, G. Harry, K. Hashimoto, C. J. Porter, M. A. Andrade, B. Thebaud and E. D. Michelakis (2007). "A mitochondria-K+ channel axis is suppressed in cancer and its normalization promotes apoptosis and inhibits cancer growth." <u>Cancer Cell</u> **11**(1): 37-51.

Bossy, B., A. Petrilli, E. Klinglmayr, J. Chen, U. Lutz-Meindl, A. B. Knott, E. Masliah, R. Schwarzenbacher and E. Bossy-Wetzel (2010). "S-Nitrosylation of DRP1 does not affect enzymatic activity and is not specific to Alzheimer's disease." <u>J Alzheimers Dis</u> **20 Suppl 2**: S513-526.

Braschi, E., R. Zunino and H. M. McBride (2009). "MAPL is a new mitochondrial SUMO E3 ligase that regulates mitochondrial fission." <u>EMBO Rep</u> **10**(7): 748-754.

Brooks, C. and Z. Dong (2007). "Regulation of mitochondrial morphological dynamics during apoptosis by Bcl-2 family proteins: a key in Bak?" <u>Cell Cycle</u> **6**(24): 3043-3047.

Brooks, C., Q. Wei, S. G. Cho and Z. Dong (2009). "Regulation of mitochondrial dynamics in acute kidney injury in cell culture and rodent models." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **119**(5): 1275-1285.

Buhlman, L., M. Damiano, G. Bertolin, R. Ferrando-Miguel, A. Lombes, A. Brice and O. Corti (2014). "Functional interplay between Parkin and Drp1 in mitochondrial fission and clearance." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1843**(9): 2012-2026.

Bui, H. T., M. A. Karren, D. Bhar and J. M. Shaw (2012). "A novel motif in the yeast mitochondrial dynamin Dnm1 is essential for adaptor binding and membrane recruitment." J Cell Biol **199**(4): 613-622.

Cereghetti, G. M., A. Stangherlin, O. Martins de Brito, C. R. Chang, C. Blackstone, P. Bernardi and L. Scorrano (2008). "Dephosphorylation by calcineurin regulates translocation of Drp1 to mitochondria." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **105**(41): 15803-15808.

Chang, C. R. and C. Blackstone (2007). "Cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase phosphorylation of Drp1 regulates its GTPase activity and mitochondrial morphology." J Biol Chem **282**(30): 21583-21587.

Chen, H. and D. C. Chan (2010). "Physiological functions of mitochondrial fusion." <u>Ann N Y</u> <u>Acad Sci</u> **1201**: 21-25.

Chen, H., A. Chomyn and D. C. Chan (2005). "Disruption of fusion results in mitochondrial heterogeneity and dysfunction." J Biol Chem **280**(28): 26185-26192.

Chen, H., S. A. Detmer, A. J. Ewald, E. E. Griffin, S. E. Fraser and D. C. Chan (2003). "Mitofusins Mfn1 and Mfn2 coordinately regulate mitochondrial fusion and are essential for embryonic development." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **160**(2): 189-200.

Chen, H., J. M. McCaffery and D. C. Chan (2007). "Mitochondrial fusion protects against neurodegeneration in the cerebellum." <u>Cell</u> **130**(3): 548-562.

Chiang, Y. Y., S. L. Chen, Y. T. Hsiao, C. H. Huang, T. Y. Lin, I. P. Chiang, W. H. Hsu and K. C. Chow (2009). "Nuclear expression of dynamin-related protein 1 in lung adenocarcinomas." <u>Mod Pathol</u> **22**(9): 1139-1150.

Chinta, S. J. and J. K. Andersen (2008). "Redox imbalance in Parkinson's disease." <u>Biochim</u> <u>Biophys Acta</u> **1780**(11): 1362-1367.

Cho, D. H., T. Nakamura, J. Fang, P. Cieplak, A. Godzik, Z. Gu and S. A. Lipton (2009). "Snitrosylation of Drp1 mediates beta-amyloid-related mitochondrial fission and neuronal injury." <u>Science</u> **324**(5923): 102-105.

Ciarlo, L., V. Manganelli, T. Garofalo, P. Matarrese, A. Tinari, R. Misasi, W. Malorni and M. Sorice (2010). "Association of fission proteins with mitochondrial raft-like domains." <u>Cell</u> <u>Death Differ</u> **17**(6): 1047-1058.

Cipolat, S., T. Rudka, D. Hartmann, V. Costa, L. Serneels, K. Craessaerts, K. Metzger, C. Frezza, W. Annaert, L. D'Adamio, C. Derks, T. Dejaegere, L. Pellegrini, R. D'Hooge, L. Scorrano and B. De Strooper (2006). "Mitochondrial rhomboid PARL regulates cytochrome c release during apoptosis via OPA1-dependent cristae remodeling." <u>Cell</u> **126**(1): 163-175.

Cribbs, J. T. and S. Strack (2007). "Reversible phosphorylation of Drp1 by cyclic AMPdependent protein kinase and calcineurin regulates mitochondrial fission and cell death." <u>EMBO Rep</u> **8**(10): 939-944.

Crompton, M., E. Barksby, N. Johnson and M. Capano (2002). "Mitochondrial intermembrane junctional complexes and their involvement in cell death." <u>Biochimie</u> **84**(2-3): 143-152.

Cuesta, A., L. Pedrola, T. Sevilla, J. Garcia-Planells, M. J. Chumillas, F. Mayordomo, E. LeGuern, I. Marin, J. J. Vilchez and F. Palau (2002). "The gene encoding gangliosideinduced differentiation-associated protein 1 is mutated in axonal Charcot-Marie-Tooth type 4A disease." <u>Nat Genet</u> **30**(1): 22-25.

da Silva, A. F., F. R. Mariotti, V. Maximo and S. Campello (2014). "Mitochondria dynamism: of shape, transport and cell migration." <u>Cell Mol Life Sci</u> **71**(12): 2313-2324.

da Silva, A. F., F. R. Mariotti, V. Maximo and S. Campello (2014). "Mitochondria dynamism: of shape, transport and cell migration." <u>Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences</u> **71**(12): 2313-2324.

De Palma, C., S. Falcone, S. Pisoni, S. Cipolat, C. Panzeri, S. Pambianco, A. Pisconti, R. Allevi, M. T. Bassi, G. Cossu, T. Pozzan, S. Moncada, L. Scorrano, S. Brunelli and E. Clementi (2010). "Nitric oxide inhibition of Drp1-mediated mitochondrial fission is critical for myogenic differentiation." <u>Cell Death Differ</u> **17**(11): 1684-1696.

Delettre, C., J. M. Griffoin, J. Kaplan, H. Dollfus, B. Lorenz, L. Faivre, G. Lenaers, P. Belenguer and C. P. Hamel (2001). "Mutation spectrum and splicing variants in the OPA1 gene." <u>Hum Genet</u> **109**(6): 584-591.

Delettre, C., G. Lenaers, J. M. Griffoin, N. Gigarel, C. Lorenzo, P. Belenguer, L. Pelloquin, J. Grosgeorge, C. Turc-Carel, E. Perret, C. Astarie-Dequeker, L. Lasquellec, B. Arnaud, B. Ducommun, J. Kaplan and C. P. Hamel (2000). "Nuclear gene OPA1, encoding a mitochondrial dynamin-related protein, is mutated in dominant optic atrophy." <u>Nat Genet</u> **26**(2): 207-210.

DeVay, R. M., L. Dominguez-Ramirez, L. L. Lackner, S. Hoppins, H. Stahlberg and J. Nunnari (2009). "Coassembly of Mgm1 isoforms requires cardiolipin and mediates mitochondrial inner membrane fusion." J Cell Biol **186**(6): 793-803.

Ehses, S., I. Raschke, G. Mancuso, A. Bernacchia, S. Geimer, D. Tondera, J. C. Martinou, B. Westermann, E. I. Rugarli and T. Langer (2009). "Regulation of OPA1 processing and mitochondrial fusion by m-AAA protease isoenzymes and OMA1." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **187**(7): 1023-1036.

Elgass, K., J. Pakay, M. T. Ryan and C. S. Palmer (2013). "Recent advances into the understanding of mitochondrial fission." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1833**(1): 150-161.

Escobar-Henriques, M. and F. Anton (2013). "Mechanistic perspective of mitochondrial fusion: tubulation vs. fragmentation." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1833**(1): 162-175.

Evan, G. I. and K. H. Vousden (2001). "Proliferation, cell cycle and apoptosis in cancer." <u>Nature</u> **411**(6835): 342-348.

Frank, M., S. Duvezin-Caubet, S. Koob, A. Occhipinti, R. Jagasia, A. Petcherski, M. O. Ruonala, M. Priault, B. Salin and A. S. Reichert (2012). "Mitophagy is triggered by mild oxidative stress in a mitochondrial fission dependent manner." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1823**(12): 2297-2310.

Frezza, C., S. Cipolat, O. Martins de Brito, M. Micaroni, G. V. Beznoussenko, T. Rudka, D. Bartoli, R. S. Polishuck, N. N. Danial, B. De Strooper and L. Scorrano (2006). "OPA1 controls apoptotic cristae remodeling independently from mitochondrial fusion." <u>Cell</u> **126**(1): 177-189.

Friedman, J. R. and J. Nunnari (2014). "Mitochondrial form and function." <u>Nature</u> **505**(7483): 335-343.

Frohlich, C., S. Grabiger, D. Schwefel, K. Faelber, E. Rosenbaum, J. Mears, O. Rocks and O. Daumke (2013). "Structural insights into oligomerization and mitochondrial remodelling of dynamin 1-like protein." <u>EMBO J</u> **32**(9): 1280-1292.

Gandre-Babbe, S. and A. M. van der Bliek (2008). "The novel tail-anchored membrane protein Mff controls mitochondrial and peroxisomal fission in mammalian cells." <u>Mol Biol</u> <u>Cell</u> **19**(6): 2402-2412.

Garcia-Saez, A. J. (2012). "The secrets of the Bcl-2 family." <u>Cell Death Differ</u> **19**(11): 1733-1740.

Gegg, M. E., J. M. Cooper, K. Y. Chau, M. Rojo, A. H. Schapira and J. W. Taanman (2010). "Mitofusin 1 and mitofusin 2 are ubiquitinated in a PINK1/parkin-dependent manner upon induction of mitophagy." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **19**(24): 4861-4870.

Gomes, L. C. and L. Scorrano (2008). "High levels of Fis1, a pro-fission mitochondrial protein, trigger autophagy." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1777**(7-8): 860-866.

Gomes, L. C. and L. Scorrano (2013). "Mitochondrial morphology in mitophagy and macroautophagy." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1833**(1): 205-212.

Griffin, E. E. and D. C. Chan (2006). "Domain interactions within Fzo1 oligomers are essential for mitochondrial fusion." J Biol Chem **281**(24): 16599-16606.

Griparic, L., T. Kanazawa and A. M. van der Bliek (2007). "Regulation of the mitochondrial dynamin-like protein Opa1 by proteolytic cleavage." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **178**(5): 757-764.

Guo, C., K. L. Hildick, J. Luo, L. Dearden, K. A. Wilkinson and J. M. Henley (2013). "SENP3-mediated deSUMOylation of dynamin-related protein 1 promotes cell death following ischaemia." <u>EMBO J</u> **32**(11): 1514-1528. Hajek, P., A. Chomyn and G. Attardi (2007). "Identification of a novel mitochondrial complex containing mitofusin 2 and stomatin-like protein 2." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **282**(8): 5670-5681.

Hales, K. G. and M. T. Fuller (1997). "Developmentally regulated mitochondrial fusion mediated by a conserved, novel, predicted GTPase." <u>Cell</u> **90**(1): 121-129.

Hammermeister, M., K. Schodel and B. Westermann (2010). "Mdm36 Is a Mitochondrial Fission-promoting Protein in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Molecular Biology of the Cell</u> **21**(14): 2443-2452.

Han, X. J., Y. F. Lu, S. A. Li, T. Kaitsuka, Y. Sato, K. Tomizawa, A. C. Nairn, K. Takei, H. Matsui and M. Matsushita (2008). "CaM kinase I alpha-induced phosphorylation of Drp1 regulates mitochondrial morphology." J Cell Biol **182**(3): 573-585.

Hanahan, D. and R. A. Weinberg (2011). "Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation." <u>Cell</u> **144**(5): 646-674.

Haun, F., T. Nakamura, A. D. Shiu, D. H. Cho, T. Tsunemi, E. A. Holland, A. R. La Spada and S. A. Lipton (2013). "S-Nitrosylation of Dynamin-Related Protein 1 Mediates Mutant Huntingtin-Induced Mitochondrial Fragmentation and Neuronal Injury in Huntington's Disease." <u>Antioxidants & Redox Signaling 19(11)</u>: 1173-1184.

He, C. and D. J. Klionsky (2009). "Regulation mechanisms and signaling pathways of autophagy." <u>Annu Rev Genet</u> **43**: 67-93.

Head, B., L. Griparic, M. Amiri, S. Gandre-Babbe and A. M. van der Bliek (2009). "Inducible proteolytic inactivation of OPA1 mediated by the OMA1 protease in mammalian cells." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **187**(7): 959-966.

Ho, S. N., H. D. Hunt, R. M. Horton, J. K. Pullen and L. R. Pease (1989). "Site-directed mutagenesis by overlap extension using the polymerase chain reaction." <u>Gene</u> 77(1): 51-59.

Honda, S., T. Aihara, M. Hontani, K. Okubo and S. Hirose (2005). "Mutational analysis of action of mitochondrial fusion factor mitofusin-2." <u>J Cell Sci</u> **118**(Pt 14): 3153-3161.

Hoppins, S. (2014). "The regulation of mitochondrial dynamics." <u>Curr Opin Cell Biol</u> **29C**: 46-52.

Hoppins, S., F. Edlich, M. M. Cleland, S. Banerjee, J. M. McCaffery, R. J. Youle and J. Nunnari (2011). "The soluble form of Bax regulates mitochondrial fusion via MFN2 homotypic complexes." <u>Mol Cell</u> **41**(2): 150-160.

Hudson, G., P. Amati-Bonneau, E. L. Blakely, J. D. Stewart, L. He, A. M. Schaefer, P. G. Griffiths, K. Ahlqvist, A. Suomalainen, P. Reynier, R. McFarland, D. M. Turnbull, P. F. Chinnery and R. W. Taylor (2008). "Mutation of OPA1 causes dominant optic atrophy with external ophthalmoplegia, ataxia, deafness and multiple mitochondrial DNA deletions: a novel disorder of mtDNA maintenance." <u>Brain</u> **131**(Pt 2): 329-337.

Ishihara, N., Y. Eura and K. Mihara (2004). "Mitofusin 1 and 2 play distinct roles in mitochondrial fusion reactions via GTPase activity." <u>J Cell Sci</u> **117**(Pt 26): 6535-6546.

Ishihara, N., M. Nomura, A. Jofuku, H. Kato, S. O. Suzuki, K. Masuda, H. Otera, Y. Nakanishi, I. Nonaka, Y. Goto, N. Taguchi, H. Morinaga, M. Maeda, R. Takayanagi, S. Yokota and K. Mihara (2009). "Mitochondrial fission factor Drp1 is essential for embryonic development and synapse formation in mice." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **11**(8): 958-966.

Iwasawa, R., A. L. Mahul-Mellier, C. Datler, E. Pazarentzos and S. Grimm (2011). "Fis1 and Bap31 bridge the mitochondria-ER interface to establish a platform for apoptosis induction." <u>EMBO J</u> **30**(3): 556-568.

Jin, S. M., M. Lazarou, C. Wang, L. A. Kane, D. P. Narendra and R. J. Youle (2010). "Mitochondrial membrane potential regulates PINK1 import and proteolytic destabilization by PARL." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **191**(5): 933-942.

Jin, S. M. and R. J. Youle (2012). "PINK1- and Parkin-mediated mitophagy at a glance." J <u>Cell Sci</u> **125**(Pt 4): 795-799.

Kamp, F., N. Exner, A. K. Lutz, N. Wender, J. Hegermann, B. Brunner, B. Nuscher, T. Bartels, A. Giese, K. Beyer, S. Eimer, K. F. Winklhofer and C. Haass (2010). "Inhibition of mitochondrial fusion by alpha-synuclein is rescued by PINK1, Parkin and DJ-1." <u>EMBO J</u> **29**(20): 3571-3589.

Karbowski, M., A. Neutzner and R. J. Youle (2007). "The mitochondrial E3 ubiquitin ligase MARCH5 is required for Drp1 dependent mitochondrial division." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **178**(1): 71-84.

Karbowski, M., K. L. Norris, M. M. Cleland, S. Y. Jeong and R. J. Youle (2006). "Role of Bax and Bak in mitochondrial morphogenesis." <u>Nature</u> **443**(7112): 658-662.

Kashatus, D. F., K. H. Lim, D. C. Brady, N. L. Pershing, A. D. Cox and C. M. Counter (2011). "RALA and RALBP1 regulate mitochondrial fission at mitosis." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **13**(9): 1108-1115.

Kim, H., M. C. Scimia, D. Wilkinson, R. D. Trelles, M. R. Wood, D. Bowtell, A. Dillin, M. Mercola and Z. A. Ronai (2011). "Fine-tuning of Drp1/Fis1 availability by AKAP121/Siah2 regulates mitochondrial adaptation to hypoxia." <u>Mol Cell</u> **44**(4): 532-544.

Kim, I. G., S. Y. Kim, H. A. Kim, J. Y. Kim, J. H. Lee, S. I. Choi, J. R. Han, K. C. Kim and E. W. Cho (2014). "Disturbance of DKK1 level is partly involved in survival of lung cancer cells via regulation of ROMO1 and gamma-radiation sensitivity." <u>Biochem Biophys Res</u> <u>Commun</u> **443**(1): 49-55.

Koirala, S., Q. Guo, R. Kalia, H. T. Bui, D. M. Eckert, A. Frost and J. M. Shaw (2013). "Interchangeable adaptors regulate mitochondrial dynamin assembly for membrane scission." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **110**(15): E1342-1351.

Lackner, L. L. (2013). "Determining the shape and cellular distribution of mitochondria: the integration of multiple activities." <u>Curr Opin Cell Biol</u> **25**(4): 471-476.

Lee, S. H., J. S. Lee, E. J. Lee, K. H. Min, G. Y. Hur, S. H. Lee, S. Y. Lee, J. H. Kim, S. Y. Lee, C. Shin, J. J. Shim, K. H. Kang and K. H. In (2014). "Serum reactive oxygen species modulator 1 (Romo1) as a potential diagnostic biomarker for non-small cell lung cancer." Lung Cancer **85**(2): 175-181.

Lee, Y., H. Y. Lee, R. A. Hanna and A. B. Gustafsson (2011). "Mitochondrial autophagy by Bnip3 involves Drp1-mediated mitochondrial fission and recruitment of Parkin in cardiac myocytes." <u>Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol</u> **301**(5): H1924-1931.

Lee, Y. J., S. Y. Jeong, M. Karbowski, C. L. Smith and R. J. Youle (2004). "Roles of the mammalian mitochondrial fission and fusion mediators Fis1, Drp1, and Opa1 in apoptosis." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **15**(11): 5001-5011.

Legesse-Miller, A., R. H. Massol and T. Kirchhausen (2003). "Constriction and Dnm1p recruitment are distinct processes in mitochondrial fission." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **14**(5): 1953-1963.

Liesa, M., B. Borda-d'Agua, G. Medina-Gomez, C. J. Lelliott, J. C. Paz, M. Rojo, M. Palacin, A. Vidal-Puig and A. Zorzano (2008). "Mitochondrial fusion is increased by the nuclear coactivator PGC-1beta." <u>PLoS One</u> **3**(10): e3613.

Liu, T., R. Yu, S. B. Jin, L. Han, U. Lendahl, J. Zhao and M. Nister (2013). "The mitochondrial elongation factors MIEF1 and MIEF2 exert partially distinct functions in mitochondrial dynamics." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> **319**(18): 2893-2904.

Loson, O. C., R. Liu, M. E. Rome, S. X. Meng, J. T. Kaiser, S. O. Shan and D. C. Chan (2014). "The Mitochondrial Fission Receptor MiD51 Requires ADP as a Cofactor." <u>Structure</u> **22**(3): 367-377.

Loson, O. C., Z. Song, H. Chen and D. C. Chan (2013). "Fis1, Mff, MiD49, and MiD51 mediate Drp1 recruitment in mitochondrial fission." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **24**(5): 659-667.

Low, H. H., C. Sachse, L. A. Amos and J. Lowe (2009). "Structure of a bacterial dynaminlike protein lipid tube provides a mechanism for assembly and membrane curving." <u>Cell</u> **139**(7): 1342-1352.

Lu, B. and SpringerLink (2011). <u>Mitochondrial Dynamics and Neurodegeneration</u>. Dordrecht, Springer Netherlands.

Makino, A., B. T. Scott and W. H. Dillmann (2010). "Mitochondrial fragmentation and superoxide anion production in coronary endothelial cells from a mouse model of type 1 diabetes." <u>Diabetologia</u> **53**(8): 1783-1794.

Marchiani, S., L. Tamburrino, L. Giuliano, D. Nosi, V. Sarli, L. Gandini, P. Piomboni, G. Belmonte, G. Forti, E. Baldi and M. Muratori (2011). "Sumo1-ylation of human spermatozoa and its relationship with semen quality." <u>Int J Androl</u> **34**(6 Pt 1): 581-593.

Marin-Garcia, J. and SpringerLink (2013). <u>Mitochondria and Their Role in Cardiovascular</u> <u>Disease</u>. Boston, MA, Springer US.

Martinou, J. C. and R. J. Youle (2011). "Mitochondria in apoptosis: Bcl-2 family members and mitochondrial dynamics." <u>Dev Cell</u> **21**(1): 92-101.

McBride, H. M., M. Neuspiel and S. Wasiak (2006). "Mitochondria: more than just a powerhouse." <u>Curr Biol</u> **16**(14): R551-560.

McQuibban, G. A., S. Saurya and M. Freeman (2003). "Mitochondrial membrane remodelling regulated by a conserved rhomboid protease." <u>Nature</u> **423**(6939): 537-541.

Meeusen, S., R. DeVay, J. Block, A. Cassidy-Stone, S. Wayson, J. M. McCaffery and J. Nunnari (2006). "Mitochondrial inner-membrane fusion and crista maintenance requires the dynamin-related GTPase Mgm1." <u>Cell</u> **127**(2): 383-395.

Merrill, R. A., A. M. Slupe and S. Strack (2013). "N-terminal phosphorylation of protein phosphatase 2A/Bbeta2 regulates translocation to mitochondria, dynamin-related protein 1 dephosphorylation, and neuronal survival." <u>FEBS J</u> **280**(2): 662-673.

Mitchell, P. (1961). "Coupling of phosphorylation to electron and hydrogen transfer by a chemi-osmotic type of mechanism." <u>Nature</u> **191**: 144-148.

Mouli, P. K., G. Twig and O. S. Shirihai (2009). "Frequency and selectivity of mitochondrial fusion are key to its quality maintenance function." <u>Biophys J</u> **96**(9): 3509-3518.

Mozdy, A. D., J. M. McCaffery and J. M. Shaw (2000). "Dnm1p GTPase-mediated mitochondrial fission is a multi-step process requiring the novel integral membrane component Fis1p." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **151**(2): 367-380.

Nagashima, S., T. Tokuyama, R. Yonashiro, R. Inatome and S. Yanagi (2014). "Roles of mitochondrial ubiquitin ligase MITOL/MARCH5 in mitochondrial dynamics and diseases." J Biochem **155**(5): 273-279.

Nakamura, N., Y. Kimura, M. Tokuda, S. Honda and S. Hirose (2006). "MARCH-V is a novel mitofusin 2- and Drp1-binding protein able to change mitochondrial morphology." <u>EMBO Rep</u> **7**(10): 1019-1022.

Narendra, D., A. Tanaka, D. F. Suen and R. J. Youle (2008). "Parkin is recruited selectively to impaired mitochondria and promotes their autophagy." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **183**(5): 795-803.

Niemann, A., M. Ruegg, V. La Padula, A. Schenone and U. Suter (2005). "Gangliosideinduced differentiation associated protein 1 is a regulator of the mitochondrial network: new implications for Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **170**(7): 1067-1078.

Norton, M., A. C. Ng, S. Baird, A. Dumoulin, T. Shutt, N. Mah, M. A. Andrade-Navarro, H. M. McBride and R. A. Screaton (2014). "ROMO1 is an essential redox-dependent regulator of mitochondrial dynamics." <u>Sci Signal</u> 7(310): ra10.

Okatsu, K., T. Oka, M. Iguchi, K. Imamura, H. Kosako, N. Tani, M. Kimura, E. Go, F. Koyano, M. Funayama, K. Shiba-Fukushima, S. Sato, H. Shimizu, Y. Fukunaga, H. Taniguchi, M. Komatsu, N. Hattori, K. Mihara, K. Tanaka and N. Matsuda (2012). "PINK1 autophosphorylation upon membrane potential dissipation is essential for Parkin recruitment to damaged mitochondria." <u>Nat Commun</u> **3**: 1016.

Olichon, A., L. Baricault, N. Gas, E. Guillou, A. Valette, P. Belenguer and G. Lenaers (2003). "Loss of OPA1 perturbates the mitochondrial inner membrane structure and integrity, leading to cytochrome c release and apoptosis." J Biol Chem **278**(10): 7743-7746.

Olichon, A., E. Guillou, C. Delettre, T. Landes, L. Arnaune-Pelloquin, L. J. Emorine, V. Mils, M. Daloyau, C. Hamel, P. Amati-Bonneau, D. Bonneau, P. Reynier, G. Lenaers and P. Belenguer (2006). "Mitochondrial dynamics and disease, OPA1." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1763**(5-6): 500-509.

Ong, S. B., A. R. Hall and D. J. Hausenloy (2013). "Mitochondrial dynamics in cardiovascular health and disease." <u>Antioxid Redox Signal</u> **19**(4): 400-414.

Ong, S. B., S. Subrayan, S. Y. Lim, D. M. Yellon, S. M. Davidson and D. J. Hausenloy (2010). "Inhibiting mitochondrial fission protects the heart against ischemia/reperfusion injury." <u>Circulation</u> **121**(18): 2012-2022.

Otera, H., N. Ishihara and K. Mihara (2013). "New insights into the function and regulation of mitochondrial fission." <u>Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Molecular Cell Research</u> **1833**(5): 1256-1268.

Otera, H., N. Ishihara and K. Mihara (2013). "New insights into the function and regulation of mitochondrial fission." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1833**(5): 1256-1268.

Otera, H., C. Wang, M. M. Cleland, K. Setoguchi, S. Yokota, R. J. Youle and K. Mihara (2010). "Mff is an essential factor for mitochondrial recruitment of Drp1 during mitochondrial fission in mammalian cells." J Cell Biol **191**(6): 1141-1158.

Palade, G. E. (1953). "An electron microscope study of the mitochondrial structure." J Histochem Cytochem 1(4): 188-211.

Palmer, C. S., K. D. Elgass, R. G. Parton, L. D. Osellame, D. Stojanovski and M. T. Ryan (2013). "Adaptor proteins MiD49 and MiD51 can act independently of Mff and Fis1 in Drp1 recruitment and are specific for mitochondrial fission." J Biol Chem **288**(38): 27584-27593.

Palmer, C. S., L. D. Osellame, D. Laine, O. S. Koutsopoulos, A. E. Frazier and M. T. Ryan (2011). "MiD49 and MiD51, new components of the mitochondrial fission machinery." <u>EMBO Rep</u> **12**(6): 565-573.

Park, Y. Y., S. Lee, M. Karbowski, A. Neutzner, R. J. Youle and H. Cho (2010). "Loss of MARCH5 mitochondrial E3 ubiquitin ligase induces cellular senescence through dynamin-related protein 1 and mitofusin 1." <u>J Cell Sci</u> **123**(Pt 4): 619-626.

Parone, P. A., D. I. James, S. Da Cruz, Y. Mattenberger, O. Donze, F. Barja and J. C. Martinou (2006). "Inhibiting the mitochondrial fission machinery does not prevent Bax/Bak-dependent apoptosis." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **26**(20): 7397-7408.

Pedrola, L., A. Espert, X. Wu, R. Claramunt, M. E. Shy and F. Palau (2005). "GDAP1, the protein causing Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease type 4A, is expressed in neurons and is associated with mitochondria." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **14**(8): 1087-1094.

Praefcke, G. J. and H. T. McMahon (2004). "The dynamin superfamily: universal membrane tubulation and fission molecules?" <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **5**(2): 133-147.

Rafelski, S. M. (2013). "Mitochondrial network morphology: building an integrative, geometrical view." <u>BMC Biol</u> **11**: 71.

Rakovic, A., A. Grunewald, J. Kottwitz, N. Bruggemann, P. P. Pramstaller, K. Lohmann and C. Klein (2011). "Mutations in PINK1 and Parkin impair ubiquitination of Mitofusins in human fibroblasts." <u>PLoS One</u> **6**(3): e16746.

Rehman, J., H. J. Zhang, P. T. Toth, Y. Zhang, G. Marsboom, Z. Hong, R. Salgia, A. N. Husain, C. Wietholt and S. L. Archer (2012). "Inhibition of mitochondrial fission prevents cell cycle progression in lung cancer." <u>FASEB J</u> **26**(5): 2175-2186.

Rojo, M., F. Legros, D. Chateau and A. Lombes (2002). "Membrane topology and mitochondrial targeting of mitofusins, ubiquitous mammalian homologs of the transmembrane GTPase Fzo." J Cell Sci **115**(Pt 8): 1663-1674.

Romanello, V., E. Guadagnin, L. Gomes, I. Roder, C. Sandri, Y. Petersen, G. Milan, E. Masiero, P. Del Piccolo, M. Foretz, L. Scorrano, R. Rudolf and M. Sandri (2010). "Mitochondrial fission and remodelling contributes to muscle atrophy." <u>EMBO J</u> **29**(10): 1774-1785.

Rowland, A. A. and G. K. Voeltz (2012). "Endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria contacts: function of the junction." <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **13**(10): 607-625.

Rugarli, E. I. and T. Langer (2012). "Mitochondrial quality control: a matter of life and death for neurons." <u>EMBO J 31(6)</u>: 1336-1349.

Rujiviphat, J., G. Meglei, J. L. Rubinstein and G. A. McQuibban (2009). "Phospholipid association is essential for dynamin-related protein Mgm1 to function in mitochondrial membrane fusion." J Biol Chem **284**(42): 28682-28686.

Sanjuan Szklarz, L. K. and L. Scorrano (2012). "The antiapoptotic OPA1/Parl couple participates in mitochondrial adaptation to heat shock." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1817**(10): 1886-1893.

Santel, A., S. Frank, B. Gaume, M. Herrler, R. J. Youle and M. T. Fuller (2003). "Mitofusin-1 protein is a generally expressed mediator of mitochondrial fusion in mammalian cells." <u>J Cell</u> <u>Sci</u> **116**(Pt 13): 2763-2774.

Schatz, G. (1996). "The protein import system of mitochondria." J Biol Chem 271(50): 31763-31766.

Schuldt, A. (2011). "Membrane dynamics: MIEF1 mingles with mitochondria." <u>Nat Rev Mol</u> <u>Cell Biol</u> **12**(8): 464.

Scorziello, A., C. Savoia, A. Secondo, F. Boscia, M. J. Sisalli, A. Esposito, A. Carlucci, P. Molinaro, L. Lignitto, G. Di Renzo, A. Feliciello and L. Annunziato (2013). "New insights in mitochondrial calcium handling by sodium/calcium exchanger." <u>Adv Exp Med Biol</u> **961**: 203-209.

Sebastian, D., M. I. Hernandez-Alvarez, J. Segales, E. Sorianello, J. P. Munoz, D. Sala, A. Waget, M. Liesa, J. C. Paz, P. Gopalacharyulu, M. Oresic, S. Pich, R. Burcelin, M. Palacin and A. Zorzano (2012). "Mitofusin 2 (Mfn2) links mitochondrial and endoplasmic reticulum function with insulin signaling and is essential for normal glucose homeostasis." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **109**(14): 5523-5528.

Sesaki, H., S. M. Southard, M. P. Yaffe and R. E. Jensen (2003). "Mgm1p, a dynamin-related GTPase, is essential for fusion of the mitochondrial outer membrane." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **14**(6): 2342-2356.

Sharp, W. W., Y. H. Fang, M. Han, H. J. Zhang, Z. Hong, A. Banathy, E. Morrow, J. J. Ryan and S. L. Archer (2014). "Dynamin-related protein 1 (Drp1)-mediated diastolic dysfunction in myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury: therapeutic benefits of Drp1 inhibition to reduce mitochondrial fission." <u>FASEB J</u> **28**(1): 316-326.

Shen, Q., K. Yamano, B. P. Head, S. Kawajiri, J. T. Cheung, C. Wang, J. H. Cho, N. Hattori, R. J. Youle and A. M. van der Bliek (2014). "Mutations in Fis1 disrupt orderly disposal of defective mitochondria." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **25**(1): 145-159.

Shin, J. A., J. S. Chung, S. H. Cho, H. J. Kim and Y. D. Yoo (2013). "Romo1 expression contributes to oxidative stress-induced death of lung epithelial cells." <u>Biochem Biophys Res</u> <u>Commun</u> **439**(2): 315-320.

Simpson, J. C., R. Wellenreuther, A. Poustka, R. Pepperkok and S. Wiemann (2000). "Systematic subcellular localization of novel proteins identified by large-scale cDNA sequencing." <u>EMBO Rep</u> 1(3): 287-292.

Smirnova, E., L. Griparic, D. L. Shurland and A. M. van der Bliek (2001). "Dynamin-related protein Drp1 is required for mitochondrial division in mammalian cells." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **12**(8): 2245-2256.

Smirnova, E., D. L. Shurland, S. N. Ryazantsev and A. M. van der Bliek (1998). "A human dynamin-related protein controls the distribution of mitochondria." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **143**(2): 351-358.

Song, W., Y. Song, B. Kincaid, B. Bossy and E. Bossy-Wetzel (2013). "Mutant SOD1G93A triggers mitochondrial fragmentation in spinal cord motor neurons: neuroprotection by SIRT3 and PGC-1alpha." <u>Neurobiol Dis</u> **51**: 72-81.

Song, Z., H. Chen, M. Fiket, C. Alexander and D. C. Chan (2007). "OPA1 processing controls mitochondrial fusion and is regulated by mRNA splicing, membrane potential, and Yme1L." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **178**(5): 749-755.

Strack, S. and J. T. Cribbs (2012). "Allosteric modulation of Drp1 mechanoenzyme assembly and mitochondrial fission by the variable domain." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **287**(14): 10990-11001.

Suzuki, M., S. Y. Jeong, M. Karbowski, R. J. Youle and N. Tjandra (2003). "The solution structure of human mitochondria fission protein Fis1 reveals a novel TPR-like helix bundle." <u>J Mol Biol</u> **334**(3): 445-458.

Suzuki, M., A. Neutzner, N. Tjandra and R. J. Youle (2005). "Novel structure of the N terminus in yeast Fis1 correlates with a specialized function in mitochondrial fission." <u>J Biol</u> <u>Chem</u> **280**(22): 21444-21452.

Szydlowska, J., A. Krowczynski, D. Pociecha, J. Szczytko, P. Budzowski, A. Twardowski and E. Gorecka (2010). "Dinuclear mesogens with antiferromagnetic properties." <u>Chemphyschem</u> **11**(8): 1735-1741.

Taguchi, N., N. Ishihara, A. Jofuku, T. Oka and K. Mihara (2007). "Mitotic phosphorylation of dynamin-related GTPase Drp1 participates in mitochondrial fission." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **282**(15): 11521-11529.

Tanaka, A., M. M. Cleland, S. Xu, D. P. Narendra, D. F. Suen, M. Karbowski and R. J. Youle (2010). "Proteasome and p97 mediate mitophagy and degradation of mitofusins induced by Parkin." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **191**(7): 1367-1380.

Tondera, D., F. Czauderna, K. Paulick, R. Schwarzer, J. Kaufmann and A. Santel (2005). "The mitochondrial protein MTP18 contributes to mitochondrial fission in mammalian cells." <u>J Cell Sci</u> **118**(Pt 14): 3049-3059.

Twig, G., A. Elorza, A. J. Molina, H. Mohamed, J. D. Wikstrom, G. Walzer, L. Stiles, S. E. Haigh, S. Katz, G. Las, J. Alroy, M. Wu, B. F. Py, J. Yuan, J. T. Deeney, B. E. Corkey and O. S. Shirihai (2008). "Fission and selective fusion govern mitochondrial segregation and elimination by autophagy." <u>EMBO J</u> **27**(2): 433-446.

Twig, G., B. Hyde and O. S. Shirihai (2008). "Mitochondrial fusion, fission and autophagy as a quality control axis: the bioenergetic view." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1777**(9): 1092-1097.

Ugarte-Uribe, B. and A. J. Garcia-Saez (2014). "Membranes in motion: mitochondrial dynamics and their role in apoptosis." <u>Biol Chem</u> **395**(3): 297-311.

van der Bliek, A. M., Q. F. Shen and S. Kawajiri (2013). "Mechanisms of Mitochondrial Fission and Fusion." <u>Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology</u> **5**(6).

Wakabayashi, J., Z. Zhang, N. Wakabayashi, Y. Tamura, M. Fukaya, T. W. Kensler, M. Iijima and H. Sesaki (2009). "The dynamin-related GTPase Drp1 is required for embryonic and brain development in mice." J Cell Biol **186**(6): 805-816.

Wang, H., P. Song, L. Du, W. Tian, W. Yue, M. Liu, D. Li, B. Wang, Y. Zhu, C. Cao, J. Zhou and Q. Chen (2011). "Parkin ubiquitinates Drp1 for proteasome-dependent degradation: implication of dysregulated mitochondrial dynamics in Parkinson disease." J Biol Chem **286**(13): 11649-11658.

Wang, L., F. Lin, J. Wu and Z. Qin (2009). "High efficiency adenovirus-mediated expression of truncated N-terminal huntingtin fragment (htt552) in primary rat astrocytes." <u>Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai)</u> **41**(4): 325-334.

Wasiak, S., R. Zunino and H. M. McBride (2007). "Bax/Bak promote sumoylation of DRP1 and its stable association with mitochondria during apoptotic cell death." J Cell Biol **177**(3): 439-450.

Waterham, H. R., J. Koster, C. W. van Roermund, P. A. Mooyer, R. J. Wanders and J. V. Leonard (2007). "A lethal defect of mitochondrial and peroxisomal fission." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **356**(17): 1736-1741.

Wells, R. C., L. K. Picton, S. C. Williams, F. J. Tan and R. B. Hill (2007). "Direct binding of the dynamin-like GTPase, Dnm1, to mitochondrial dynamics protein Fis1 is negatively regulated by the Fis1 N-terminal arm." J Biol Chem **282**(46): 33769-33775.

Westermann, B. (2010). "Mitochondrial fusion and fission in cell life and death." <u>Nat Rev</u> <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **11**(12): 872-884.

Westphal, D., R. M. Kluck and G. Dewson (2014). "Building blocks of the apoptotic pore: how Bax and Bak are activated and oligomerize during apoptosis." <u>Cell Death Differ</u> **21**(2): 196-205.

Wong, E. D., J. A. Wagner, S. W. Gorsich, J. M. McCaffery, J. M. Shaw and J. Nunnari (2000). "The dynamin-related GTPase, Mgm1p, is an intermembrane space protein required for maintenance of fusion competent mitochondria." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **151**(2): 341-352.

Wong, E. D., J. A. Wagner, S. V. Scott, V. Okreglak, T. J. Holewinske, A. Cassidy-Stone and J. Nunnari (2003). "The intramitochondrial dynamin-related GTPase, Mgm1p, is a component of a protein complex that mediates mitochondrial fusion." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **160**(3): 303-311.

Wood-Kaczmar, A., E. Deas, N. W. Wood and A. Y. Abramov (2013). "The role of the mitochondrial NCX in the mechanism of neurodegeneration in Parkinson's disease." <u>Adv Exp</u> <u>Med Biol</u> 961: 241-249.

Yaffe, M. P. (2003). "The cutting edge of mitochondrial fusion." Nat Cell Biol 5(6): 497-499.

Yonashiro, R., S. Ishido, S. Kyo, T. Fukuda, E. Goto, Y. Matsuki, M. Ohmura-Hoshino, K. Sada, H. Hotta, H. Yamamura, R. Inatome and S. Yanagi (2006). "A novel mitochondrial ubiquitin ligase plays a critical role in mitochondrial dynamics." <u>EMBO J</u> **25**(15): 3618-3626.

Yoon, Y., E. W. Krueger, B. J. Oswald and M. A. McNiven (2003). "The mitochondrial protein hFis1 regulates mitochondrial fission in mammalian cells through an interaction with the dynamin-like protein DLP1." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **23**(15): 5409-5420.

Yoshii, S. R., C. Kishi, N. Ishihara and N. Mizushima (2011). "Parkin mediates proteasomedependent protein degradation and rupture of the outer mitochondrial membrane." <u>J Biol</u> <u>Chem</u> **286**(22): 19630-19640.

Youle, R. J. and D. P. Narendra (2011). "Mechanisms of mitophagy." <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **12**(1): 9-14.

Youle, R. J. and A. Strasser (2008). "The BCL-2 protein family: opposing activities that mediate cell death." <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **9**(1): 47-59.

Youle, R. J. and A. M. van der Bliek (2012). "Mitochondrial fission, fusion, and stress." <u>Science</u> **337**(6098): 1062-1065.

Yu, M. O., N. H. Song, K. J. Park, D. H. Park, S. H. Kim, Y. S. Chae, Y. G. Chung, S. G. Chi and S. H. Kang (2014). "Romo1 is associated with ROS production and cellular growth in human gliomas." <u>J Neurooncol</u>.

Yu, T., R. J. Fox, L. S. Burwell and Y. Yoon (2005). "Regulation of mitochondrial fission and apoptosis by the mitochondrial outer membrane protein hFis1." <u>J Cell Sci</u> **118**(Pt 18): 4141-4151.

Zanna, C., A. Ghelli, A. M. Porcelli, M. Karbowski, R. J. Youle, S. Schimpf, B. Wissinger, M. Pinti, A. Cossarizza, S. Vidoni, M. L. Valentino, M. Rugolo and V. Carelli (2008). "OPA1 mutations associated with dominant optic atrophy impair oxidative phosphorylation and mitochondrial fusion." <u>Brain</u> **131**(Pt 2): 352-367.

Zeviani, M. (2004). "Mitochondrial disorders." Suppl Clin Neurophysiol 57: 304-312.

Zhang, Y. and D. C. Chan (2007). "Structural basis for recruitment of mitochondrial fission complexes by Fis1." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **104**(47): 18526-18530.

Zhao, J., U. Lendahl and M. Nister (2013). "Regulation of mitochondrial dynamics: convergences and divergences between yeast and vertebrates." <u>Cell Mol Life Sci</u> **70**(6): 951-976.

Zhao, J., T. Liu, S. Jin, X. Wang, M. Qu, P. Uhlen, N. Tomilin, O. Shupliakov, U. Lendahl and M. Nister (2011). "Human MIEF1 recruits Drp1 to mitochondrial outer membranes and promotes mitochondrial fusion rather than fission." <u>EMBO J</u> **30**(14): 2762-2778.

Zhao, J., T. Liu, S. B. Jin, N. Tomilin, J. Castro, O. Shupliakov, U. Lendahl and M. Nister (2009). "The novel conserved mitochondrial inner-membrane protein MTGM regulates mitochondrial morphology and cell proliferation." <u>J Cell Sci</u> **122**(Pt 13): 2252-2262.

Zick, M., S. Duvezin-Caubet, A. Schafer, F. Vogel, W. Neupert and A. S. Reichert (2009). "Distinct roles of the two isoforms of the dynamin-like GTPase Mgm1 in mitochondrial fusion." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **583**(13): 2237-2243.

Zuchner, S., I. V. Mersiyanova, M. Muglia, N. Bissar-Tadmouri, J. Rochelle, E. L. Dadali, M. Zappia, E. Nelis, A. Patitucci, J. Senderek, Y. Parman, O. Evgrafov, P. D. Jonghe, Y. Takahashi, S. Tsuji, M. A. Pericak-Vance, A. Quattrone, E. Battaloglu, A. V. Polyakov, V. Timmerman, J. M. Schroder and J. M. Vance (2004). "Mutations in the mitochondrial GTPase mitofusin 2 cause Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy type 2A." <u>Nat Genet</u> **36**(5): 449-451.

Zunino, R., A. Schauss, P. Rippstein, M. Andrade-Navarro and H. M. McBride (2007). "The SUMO protease SENP5 is required to maintain mitochondrial morphology and function." J <u>Cell Sci</u> **120**(Pt 7): 1178-1188.